# Governance of electrotechnical standardisation in Europe



Henk J. de Vries



Governance of electrotechnical standardisation in Europe

Henk J. de Vries Rotterdam School of Management, Erasmus University Department of Technology and Operations Management Section Innovation Management Chair of Standardisation Burgemeester Oudlaan 50 Mandeville Building NL 3062 PA Rotterdam The Netherlands <u>hvries@rsm.nl</u> (+31 10) 408 20 02

May 2015

All rights reserved.

© 2015 Rotterdam School of Management, Rotterdam.

No part of the material protected by this copyright notice may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording or by any information storage and retrieval system, without written permission from the author.

# Preface

Electrotechnical standardisation has a tradition of more than 100 years. Because it started earlier than standardisation in other fields, it has its own organisations at the international, European, and sometimes also at the national level. Seven of these independent organisations at the national level in Europe, DKE (Germany), Electrosuisse (Switzerland), OVE (Austria), NEC (the Netherlands), NEK (Norway), SEK (Sweden), and SESKO (Finland) asked me to conduct a study on the governance of electrotechnical standardisation in Europe. The two other independent National Committees (NCs) in Europe, CEB-BEC (Belgium) and CEI (Italy) were also involved in the project. These nine are a minority within the 33 members of the European Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization CENELEC, but industries in these nine countries provide the majority of experts and secretariats in European electrotechnical standardisation. The findings of this study do not necessarily reflect the opinions of these nine NCs – academic research should be independent.

The issue is topical. The European Union has commissioned consultancy firm EY to conduct a review study about the European standardisation system. Some national standards bodies in Europe have developed proposals for better alignment between the European Committee for Standardization CEN and CENELEC. Moreover, the Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP) is a challenge for the European system. It is therefore time to evaluate current governance and possibly improve it.

As the report shows: the relevance of standardisation is undisputed and is continuing to increase, but the way standardisation is organised is up for improvements. The report provides suggestions for such improvements from the perspective of the independent CENELEC NCs.

I would like to thank these nine NCs for their confidence and support, and all interviewees for their willingness to contribute. Moreover I thank my student assistant Marijn Aalbrecht for his help, in particular with the interviews and data analysis, and Stephan Fertig, Sandy van der Meer-Lieftinck and Paul Wiegmann who checked the final draft and provided useful suggestions for improvement.

I hope this report contributes to a healthy future of standardisation in Europe, for the benefit of business and society.

Henk de Vries

Associate Professor of Standardisation

# **Executive Summary**

This report provides recommendations about the governance of electrotechnical standardisation in Europe to seven independent National Committees: DKE (Germany), Electrosuisse (Switzerland), OVE (Austria), NEC (the Netherlands), NEK (Norway), SEK (Sweden), and SESKO (Finland). It answers the following questions:

- 1. How can formal standardisation be organised so that it enables industry to have optimal impact with minimal effort, without compromising reasonable participation and influence by other stakeholder groups?
- 2. Does CENELEC have any added value as a separate European standardisation organisation next to CEN and ETSI?
- 3. How can it be ensured that industry defines market relevance of standardisation projects?

The researcher first interviewed the general directors of these NCs and listened to their concerns. These concerns were then analysed using some additional interviews, professional and scientific literature, and the researcher's own experience.

Problems as perceived by the seven electrotechnical NCs include:

- Concerns whether industry, the main stakeholder in electrotechnical standardisation, can remain in the lead for both technical and for governance issues.
- Concerns that current governance directs most of its attention at the European level of standardisation, whereas the international level is far more important for industry.
- Concerns about the increasing influence of the European Commission and the decreasing influence of industry.
- Concerns about the complex governance structure of CENELEC and its counterpart CEN.
- Concerns about further integration of CENELEC and CEN, which brings more 'political' (non-technical) and European (non-international) issues to CENELEC agenda, leads to a decrease in the influence of the electrotechnical industry on policy, and results in sub-optimal solutions for the electrotechnical sector.
- Dissatisfaction with CEN CENELEC Management Centre that is supportive in regular technical work, but insufficiently supportive in governance-related issues and sometimes putting the wrong emphasis.
- Difficulty to align with newer CENELEC members from Central, Eastern and partly Southern Europe which tend to have less involvement of the electrotechnical industry and have a different culture, which leads to differences in input in CENELEC.
- Bureaucracy: the huge number of governance-related committees and working groups which leads to vast numbers of meetings and documents and puts a huge administrative burden on NCs.

Other interviews, industry position papers<sup>1</sup>, and internal CENELEC documents confirm the relevance of these issues, but one specifically appears to be up for discussion: the wish to focus on the international level. Indeed, this is the natural level for industry, in combination with the national level. The European level is an artificial level for political reasons. But it is a reality. Standards have contributed to the single European market without barriers to trade. Standards are relevant for policy areas as well, such as sustainability and the digital agenda. Because CENELEC prefers to focus on rubberstamping international standards, the European Commission largely determines the European agenda and as a result, industry is no longer in the lead and may feel pressurised to participate in committees they would not have chosen themselves. Meanwhile the agenda of governance-related committees is overwhelmed by European issues, sometimes also related to politics. CENELEC, its sister organisation CEN, and their common secretariat CCMC have responded by creating even more committees, which generate new documents. As a result, the system is bogged down by bureaucracy and is no longer effective. In order to improve the situation, CENELEC, CEN, their members and CCMC have focused on more efficiency, but as will be explained in this report, this makes the situation worse instead of better because it draws attention to internal issues while the external environment requires more effectiveness.

An 'escape' is needed and two scenarios have been designed. Scenario A is in line with the wishes of the independent NCs: a focus on alignment with IEC. Scenario B advocates a more proactive European role. In both scenarios, the overload of committees and working groups is stopped simply by dismantling most of them. Although they may be important, they hinder more important work. Their work should stop or be (partly) taken over by the secretariat.

In Scenario A, the focus shifts further to the international level by aligning European structures and meetings with international ones and by putting the European Commission at a distance. Standardisation requests are no longer honoured, the default answer to these requests is 'no'. Compared to the current situation, CENELEC becomes leaner, industry can focus on technical standardisation issues, and the administrative workload of NCs is reduced considerably. It requires a more pro-active role of the secretariat. If CCMC is not prepared to play this role, then a move to another secretariat can be considered. However, this scenario more or less ignores European issues, and the default rejection of standardisation requests is not realistic. The focus on IEC leads to less rather than more integration between CENELEC and CEN, which may be beneficial for the electrotechnical industry but not necessarily for CEN and CENELEC members, particularly those members from countries that have a limited electrotechnical industry and thus hardly have any involvement in IEC.

In Scenario B, the needs in the European market get more priority. The market for electrotechnical components and products is global, but the market for systems in which these are applied can be global, European, national, or even local. In these systems, electrotechnology is interwoven with ICT, other technologies, and services. In Scenario B, CENELEC takes a forerunner role in developing architectures of standards for such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Orgalime 2011a, 2013, 2014.

systems. It develops the electrotechnical standards themselves in cooperation with IEC, while leaving the remaining standards to other standards setting bodies, including ETSI and CEN. In this scenario, CENELEC cooperates with the European Commission but in a different way than it currently does – next to it, not under it. The proactive role requires a proactive secretariat that is knowledgeable in the art of systems-related standardisation. CCMC, in its current shape, is not in a position to play this role. Many conveners of committees and standardisation officers at the national level need additional education to enable them to lead and support this more sophisticated form of standardisation. In this scenario, CENELEC remains independent from CEN, 1) because of this sophisticated character, 2) to allow industry to be in the lead, 3) because of its relation to IEC, and 4) to ensure an external focus. However, if CEN moves in a similar direction, more integration between CEN and CENELEC makes sense at a later stage – the historical reasons for having separate organisations disappear due to the integration of technologies and markets.

First feedback suggests that most NCs involved in this project are not prepared to play a more active role in Europe and therefore prefer Scenario A. However, because its weaknesses, a third scenario has been developed that starts as an improved version of Scenario A and then moves in the direction of Scenario B. CENELEC's purpose would be to develop, approve and disseminate trustworthy and sound standards in the field of electrotechnology, relevant for stakeholders in Europe. In this growth scenario, CENELEC would start with a pilot project of system-related standardisation.

# **Table of Contents**

| Preface           |       |   |    |  |  |
|-------------------|-------|---|----|--|--|
| Executive Summary |       |   |    |  |  |
| 1                 | Intro | oduction  | 9  |  |  |
|                   | 1.1   | Research questions                                    | 10 |  |  |
|                   | 1.2   | Research approach                                     | 11 |  |  |
| 2                 | Cha   | Illenges for independent NCs                          | 12 |  |  |
|                   | 2.1   | Industry lead   | 12 |  |  |
|                   | 2.2   | Three levels: International, European, national       | 12 |  |  |
|                   | 2.3   | System technologies                                   | 14 |  |  |
|                   | 2.4   | Role of the European Commission                       | 15 |  |  |
|                   | 2.5   | CENELEC governing structure                           | 16 |  |  |
|                   | 2.6   | Merger with CEN?                                      | 18 |  |  |
|                   | 2.7   | CCMC  | 19 |  |  |
|                   | 2.8   | Second generation member countries                    | 20 |  |  |
|                   | 2.9   | Red tape  | 23 |  |  |
|                   | 2.10  | Business models                                       | 24 |  |  |
|                   | 2.11  | Stakeholder involvement                               | 24 |  |  |
|                   | 2.12  | Conclusion  | 25 |  |  |
| 3                 | Ana   | lysis   | 26 |  |  |
|                   | 3.1   | Industry lead   | 26 |  |  |
|                   | 3.2   | Three levels: International, European, national       | 28 |  |  |
|                   | 3.3   | System technologies                                   | 30 |  |  |
|                   | 3.4   | Role of the European Union                            | 32 |  |  |
|                   | 3.4.  | 1 History of European Standardisation                 | 32 |  |  |
|                   | 3.4.  | 2 European Commission intervention in Standardisation | 35 |  |  |
|                   | 3.4.  | 3 Abraham Kuyper's Societal Architecture              | 36 |  |  |
|                   | 3.4.  | 4 Sphere Sovereignty and European Standardisation     | 37 |  |  |
|                   | 3.4.  | 5 EU Position   | 38 |  |  |
|                   | 3.4.  | 6 Conclusions and Discussion                          | 39 |  |  |

|   | 3.5          | CENELEC governance structure40   |  |
|---|--------------|--|--|
|   | 3.6          | Merger between CEN and CENELEC   |  |
|   | 3.7          | CCMC   |  |
|   | 3.8          | Second generation member countries   |  |
|   | 3.9          | Red tape51   |  |
|   | 3.10         | Business models  |  |
|   | 3.11         | Stakeholder involvement53  |  |
|   | 3.12         | Strategic change54   |  |
|   | 3.13         | Conclusion   |  |
| 4 | 4 Discussion |  |  |
|   | 4.1          | Back to the roots of private standardisation in Europe59                               |  |
|   | 4.2          | Scenario A: Follow the IEC61   |  |
|   | 4.2.         | 1 The scenario61   |  |
|   | 4.2.         | 2 Answers to the research questions  |  |
|   | 4.2.         | 3 Strengths and weaknesses of scenario A64   |  |
|   | 4.3<br>Europ | Scenario B: Steer the development and dissemination of electrotechnical standards in e |  |
|   | 4.3.         | 1 The scenario64   |  |
|   | 4.3.         | 2 Answers to the research questions  |  |
|   | 4.3.         | 3 Strengths and weaknesses of scenario B67   |  |
|   | 4.4          | Scenario C: Moving from IEC follower to a more pro-active European role                |  |
|   | 4.5          | Conclusion and medium-term perspective69   |  |
| 5 | Sou          | rces used72  |  |
| С | hair of      | Standardisation at the Rotterdam School of Management, Erasmus University              |  |

## 1 Introduction

'Just taking a look at the governance structure for example. It's so complicated. It's so difficult to get a good impression about who is influencing whom. If you just take a picture of the governance structure showing the governance of CEN-CENELEC together with certain joined bodies and separate bodies and who is preparing the decision for whom and finally is doing the decision. The whole system is so complex. Ok, Industry is asking: what do I get for my money? Where is my influence? Where is the efficiency?'

(Interviewee, Director General of one of the NCs).

Electrotechnical standardisation in Europe faces an issue of governance: how can it be organised in such a way that its main stakeholder, industry, is in the lead? This is the core question in this research project.

In the first half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, national associations of engineers and/or industrialists took the initiative to found national standardisation organisations. During the years, emphasis shifted from developing national standards to providing the national input for standardisation at the international level: the International Organization for Standardization ISO and/or the International Electrotechnical Committee IEC. Triggered by the political initiative to establish a single European market without barriers to trade, a third level of standardisation was added: the European level. This effort has been very successful in the sense that differences between voluntary national standards have disappeared so they no longer form a non-tariff barrier to trade. The 'New Approach' has provided common regulation, mainly for product safety, which refers to voluntary standards, and this successful approach might be extended to other areas. The European Union's involvement increases the importance of 'government' at the European level as an additional stakeholder next to industry, and emphasises that the technical contents of standards are not only important for business reasons, but also may relate to legislation. Moreover, the increased attention for societal issues adds societal stakeholders such as NGOs to the landscape and raises issues of legitimacy of the standardisation system and the resulting standards. On the industrial side, there have been numerous changes. These include the shift from products to (also) services, the shift from single products and services to complicated systems of interrelated products and services, the integration of ICT in all sectors, the pressure to shorten time to market and mitigate cost, and the shift of production towards Asia and the related emphasis on global supply chain management including conformity assessment.

These changes in the landscape of business interests and stakeholders raise challenges for the functioning of the standardisation system and the interrelationships between the national, European and global levels of this system. Traditionally the system was managed by 'volunteers' delegated by industry. However, companies may be reluctant to offer capacity for such tasks that benefit all. Moreover, the tasks themselves have become more complicated due to the reasons mentioned above. Meanwhile, at the European level, the European Union is gaining more influence. As a result, industry representatives may have less direct influence on the agenda of European standardisation. The increase in the number of consortia suggests that formal standardisation has a shrinking share in the increasing 'market' of standardisation, and this raises the question whether the current system is becoming less attractive for industry. Industrial consortia are an alternative, and in some cases NGOs have introduced standardisation activities as well, for example, for fair trade or sustainable forestry. The result of these developments is a tangle of standards, difficult to trace and often competing. This may affect the effectiveness of standards as such and of the participation in standardisation in particular.

The history of electrotechnical standardisation differs from the other fields. It started at the international level from the outset, the IEC being founded in 1906. This start was dominated by private actors, whereas the start of many other standardisation organisations showed quite some governmental involvement.<sup>2</sup> The most important industrial countries at that time established National Committees. Until now, IEC exists next to ISO and, at the European level, CENELEC next to CEN. Nine European countries continue to have a separate IEC member body next to the ISO member body. The main issues in electrotechnical standardisation continue to be interoperability and safety, the latter also being related to legislation. Electrotechnical standardisation organisations at the global, European and national level seem to have more 'industry steering' than ISO, CEN and their national members. However, within Europe, this involvement is at stake due to the addition of new IEC/CENELEC members with a different tradition, the merger of some IEC NCs with ISO member bodies (recently in France), and the further integration of CEN and CENELEC. This raises concerns within the industry as can be seen from the 'Joint Call to CEN and CENELEC to place industry at the core of European standardisation governance' issued on 20 February 2014 by Orgalime and its member associations of European high-tech industry sectors.<sup>3</sup> Apparently there is a governance issue and this is the focus of this research project.

## 1.1 Research questions

This research should answer the following questions:

- 1. How can formal standardisation be organised in such a way that it enables industry to have optimal impact with minimal efforts, without compromising reasonable participation and influence by other stakeholder groups such as Government/Legislator?
- 2. Does CENELEC have any added value as a separate European standardisation organisation next to CEN and ETSI?
- 3. How can it be ensured that industry defines market relevance of standardisation projects?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Galland, 2001; Russell, 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Orgalime at al. 2014.

The first question applies equally to ISO, IEC and ITU at the global level, to CEN, CENELEC and ETSI at the European level, and to the national members of ISO and IEC. The study will focus on ISO, IEC, CEN and CENELEC and their national members and thus will address the telecommunication field (ETSI and ITU) only marginally. The second question is about CENELEC's added value and the answers to the two questions should provide insights to discuss CENELEC's future.

# 1.2 Research approach

This research was conducted in three main phases

#### Phase 1: Problem finding

The above introduction suggests that there are problems, but this proposition should be confirmed (or rejected...) first. This was done by interviewing the directors of the seven CENELEC NCs that initiated this project plus the CENELEC Vice President Policy. The latter and the representatives from DKE and NEC were interviewed face to face, the other interviews were conducted by telephone. Their answers were analysed and the problems were grouped under 11 headings. Nine of these formed the basis for the next phase, problem analysis, the two remaining ones were beyond the scope of this study. NC feedback on the written report of the problem finding phase was used to make some minor changes in this report.

#### Phase 2: Problem analysis

For the analysis of the problems, the researcher relied on more than 30 years of own experience in standardisation, but also on standardisation literature and talks with representatives from industry and from the European Commission. Preliminary findings were discussed with a focus group consisting of representatives from the seven NCs plus the Belgian NC.

#### Phase 3: Design of solutions

Based on the problem analysis, solutions to these problems were developed. This is a creative process in which the researcher could build on his own experience and on the literature. The same focus group meeting was used to present draft solutions in the form of two scenarios. Based on the feedback, these scenarios were slightly modified, and a third scenario was added. Finally, a draft report was sent to the NC representatives for further feedback. The final report was checked by an industry expert in electrotechnical standardisation, an academic researcher in this field, and a linguistic expert.

# 2 Challenges for independent NCs

Interviewees mention several challenges for electrotechnical standardisation in Europe. These interrelated challenges are listed below. Citations have been anonymised.

## 2.1 Industry lead

The interviewees see industry as the main stakeholder of electrotechnical standardisation and therefore it seems evident that it should be in the lead, not only in technical matters but also in steering the process and setting priorities. Because the standardisation scene is becoming increasingly complicated, this steering and prioritising is also becoming increasingly difficult. Of course, industry should be supported by IEC, CENELEC and NC staff, but it should manage the process, set the agenda and take the decisions. This is not only the opinion of industry representatives, but also of all NCs that initiated this project:

'The industry should get what they want. We only provide a platform to make standardisation possible by guiding the process.'

'Industry has the necessary expertise and provides this expertise. This experts capital is valuable for electrotechnical industry. On national level, international level and also on European level. They have the best know-how of electrotechnical problems and details. They are also educated and know things behind the technologies on for example safety and environmental issues. They also work in research and development. They are part of the innovation process in our country. I guess in whole Europe because these enterprises are international. (...) The process should be voluntary and knowledge driven. Expertise, theory and research are always needed in the process of standardisation. The industry can deliver knowledge and should be committed to the process by participating'

## 2.2 Three levels: International, European, national

All interviewees have a strong preference for standardisation at the international level because the market is international and the main industries operate at a global scale.

'We don't want money for European projects. We want to go international.'

'The industry in my country does not see the need of European standards and they definitely don't see any need to copy the international standards and make some small changes (...) on the European level. (...) Of course we might need some home-grown standards in Europe. We can't do everything in a global perspective. We know that, but if we need to do standards in Europe they should be market

driven. The organisation for doing this should be very slim, very limited so to say, very efficient.'

The 'rubberstamping' role of CENELEC is seen as a strength. Most CENELEC standards are unmodified adoptions of IEC standards and their adoption as European standards ensures that the IEC standards are implemented in the national standards collections of all EU and EFTA member states and other CENELEC member countries. Moreover, due to the international alignment, European stakeholders can fully profit from the international market of electrotechnical components, products and systems. Therefore, the standards have to be developed at the international level. European standards are needed only for some specific topics because of their relation to European legislation (in particular, via the New Approach), but even then there is a strong preference to develop such – mostly safety-related – standards at the international level.

'80% comes from the IEC and we want even to improve this to 95% or 99%.'

Several interviewees pointed out that if IEC were to adopt the leading role, then the European Standardisation Organisations (ESOs) CEN, CENELEC and ETSI should not have bilateral agreements with organisations in other regions or try to influence them, e.g. by sending a 'standardisation expert' to China, India or Brazil. This is expensive, requires the attention of NCs, and has no added value for industry in Europe.

'My industry can't understand why the European standardisation system wants to be everywhere in the world. In China, India. I don't know, doing a lot of promotion or negotiation with other countries. It confuses a lot of industries in the global arena when the European standards are marked or labelled as international standards but through the European system and once again put on the global market. (...). Use global standards as far as possible and don't compete with ISO and IEC.'

Proposals for a future governance structure of CENELEC should make it easy for industry to focus at the international level:

'The industry of electrotechnical sector, who is actively participating with its experts and secretariats at IEC level, is asking us <u>not</u> to duplicate the work of their experts participating to the technical work. And they are the main contributors of the standardisation system in terms of time their people devote to the technical work. The duplication of the European governance meetings is not essential for them (which, on the contrary, affects the NCs staff personnel), provided that the international work already done is not wasted in useless ping pong rediscussions at European level.'

## 2.3 System technologies

Electrotechnology is increasingly interwoven with ICT and with the fields in which the electrotechnology and ICT are being applied. Various standards setting organisations are related to these fields. At the international level these include IEC (electrotechnology), the ISO/IEC Joint Technical Committee on Information Technology ISO/IEC JTC1 (IT), ITU (telecommunication), and ISO (application areas such as mechanical engineering, construction and healthcare). At the European level, the organisations are CENELEC, ETSI and CEN. This raises the question, which organisation, if any, should take the lead in standardisation for complex systems.

'In Europe we say there is a new trend, let's talk about it. No action. This gives other parties the opportunity to pop up as the winner.'

For systems standardisation, the question is which level fits best – the European or the international level? The interviewees are clear about this: the international level should prevail.

'Systems comprise components or subsystems coming from everywhere around the world which make an international focus necessary.'

This may also apply to initiatives from the European Commission – these can be directly forwarded to the IEC and this is what actually happens.

'Innovation is not really taking place in Europe. In the electrotechnical sector it is international innovation. There is no European innovation. (...) There are some examples like smart grid where the Europeans did a good job but it's only one highlight so to speak. (...) Give me one example where an innovative area is identified by the Commission which is not of interest at the worldwide level? I have no idea. There might be one issue: energy efficiency.'

However, there may be system priorities at the European level as well:

'We talk about Europe. We need to have a better energy supply and energy market. We need to have a free energy market. We need to build energy resources for the future. We don't discuss any of this. I don't know why. Here we could do a really good thing for every country in Europe. Innovative. We could be very diplomatic on a standardisation level and we have all the technical players on board.'

And also the national and even local level may be relevant:

'The problem is that different parts of the system may have a different focus. We have an international focus, but other system parts may have a European, national or even community focus.'

It can be argued that due to the trend of integration of technologies, there are no technical or market reasons anymore for electrotechnology to be an independent sector. Some of the interviewees disagree.

'The electrotechnical sector should stay an independent sector. An alternative is to make it a subsector of other sectors.'

Apart from this discussion, new fields, and in particular system technologies, lead to a variety of groups within and outside CENELEC.

'We have so many focus groups and coordination groups. Even the Commission has groups, CENELEC has groups. For a small country, or a small industry, it's not clear where to go to. (...) It's crazy. It's a total mess. Since there are so many cooks, you never will get any meal out of it.'

## 2.4 Role of the European Commission

The European Commission sees standardisation as an important instrument for the functioning of the single market without barriers to trade, to strengthen Europe's industry, to support innovation, and to facilitate the realisation of other policy objectives. Therefore, the EC influences the standardisation agenda both informally and formally. Informally, it does so by being in close contact with CEN, CENELEC (mostly via their common secretariat CCMC) and with ETSI. Formally, it does so via 'Standardisation Requests' better known by the old name 'Mandates'. These are requests to develop one or more standards for a certain technical field. CEN and CENELEC are not obliged to accept these requests, but they strongly influence the standardisation agenda. The interviewees notice the increase in EC influence and give the following explanation:

'The European Commission doesn't have so much tools that work. I think they want the power of the standardisation. Standardisation is very powerful. I think they want that power so to say to control the market, to have a tool to control from the legalisation out to the technical decision of the standardisation, and also the content in the standards. They want to be a part of it and to affect it much more than they do today. You can see that there are more and more mandates for making standards. In different areas. Some of the areas really don't need to be controlled be the authorities. (...) They want a stronger European standardisation. They want more innovative standards coming from Europe. They want that Europe speaks with one strong voice in the standardisation. Our industry doesn't want that.'

'The Commission wants a strong and fast standardisation system which they control. This makes it hard to move to the IEC level because the Commission don't want to lose the tool of standardisation but we are convinced that there is no alternative.'

'The Commission is afraid that they lose grip. Not on what CEN-CENELEC does but on what other parts of the world are doing.'

The EC provides financial support for CCMC and for the NCs, which means that it is more difficult for the secretariats to reject a request. The interviewees do not like the amount of EC influence.

'EU standards should only be linked to some legislation, nothing else. Politicians should only set desired levels on, for example, safety or environmental aspects, and benefit from the expert knowledge available.'

Even in this case, IEC standards might be used. One of the interviewees suggests adding specific European modifications, needed because of European legislation, to IEC standards as extra information:

'We develop these legal specialties for Europe as a national annex to an IEC standard which finally in Europe is just rubberstamped. That means, more or less, to shift the work to elaborate common modifications to the IEC level. At IEC it's an informative annex but through CENELEC it becomes mandatory.'

The interviewees also have the impression that the EC would like more innovation of the standardisation system itself.

'We didn't change a lot in the last years and I think the Commission expects us to revolutionise the system. We should not try to maintain what we have but always look at what the benefit is.'

'The Commission focuses on the CEN and CENELEC level and sees the national delegation principle as a burden to speed up the system. (...) 'The Commission stresses the importance of SMEs but on the other hand doesn't want national delegation.'

## 2.5 **CENELEC** governing structure

Any organisation requires a governing structure. In the case of CENELEC, the structure is confusing:<sup>4</sup>

- General Assembly (GA). The supreme governing body of CENELEC. It determines CENELEC's policy. Members: delegations from NCs. It meets once a year.
- Administrative Board (CA). Manages and administers the Association's business, prepares GA agendas and ensures correct execution of GA decisions. Twelve members, appointed by the GA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CENELEC, 2015.

- Advisory bodies: Advise CA. Members: representatives of NCs, the number varies per topic.
  - FINPOL Financial Policy Committee. Meets at least once a year.
  - WG POL CENELEC Working Group Policy. Prepares items for CA.
- **Technical Board (BT)**. Controls the standards programme and promotes its speedy execution. Members: President, Vice-President and one delegate from each NC.
  - CENELEC BT Working Group 128-3 BT Efficiency.
- **Presidential Committee**. Governing body created jointly by CEN and CENELEC and mandated by both Administrative Boards to manage and administer both associations' business with respect to strategic matters of common interest that are not sector-specific to CENELEC or CEN, like innovation and research, external relations, and common communications and visibility policy. Members: the common Director General, the two Presidents and the six Vice Presidents. Meets at least twice a year and reports to the two Administrative Boards.
- Technical Bodies. More than 300 Technical Committees, Subcommittees and Task Forces do the real standardisation work. They report to the TB. All consist of national delegations.

Additionally, there are ad hoc working groups, currently including:

- CENELEC Action Plan (resulting from a former WG Strategy CEN/CENELEC). CENELEC has six objectives, with a working group for each objective:
  - CENELEC Purpose
  - CEN-CENELEC-ETSI Joint Working Group Rules & Procedures
  - WG Internal Regulations
  - WG Membership
  - o CENELEC BT WG 128-3 'BT efficiency'
  - WG ICT and Tools
- CEN-CENELEC Joint Working Group Education about Standardisation
- CEN-CENELEC BT Working Group 6 ICT Standardisation Policy
- CEN-CENELEC BT Working Group 7 Reduction of Development Time

It's not surprising that even permanent delegates get confused.

'I provide the boards with information. It's me who is providing all the documents and guide them through the process. If I get lost the board will get lost.'

'The governance structure is so complicated. It's so difficult to get a good impression about who is influencing whom. If you just take a picture of the governance structure showing the governance of CEN-CENELEC together with certain joined bodies and separate bodies and who is preparing the decision for whom and finally is doing the decision. The whole system is so complex. OK, Industry is asking: what do I get for my money? Where is my influence? Where is the efficiency?'

### 2.6 Merger with CEN?

Electrotechnology used to be a well-defined technical field with a related industry. However, is has increasingly been integrated with other technologies, and the business gets mixed with other sectors as well. This raises the question whether it makes sense to continue with separate standardisation organisations for electrotechnology (IEC / CENELEC), ICT (ITU / ETSI) and other fields (ISO / CEN). CEN and CENELEC already have similar procedures and a common secretariat (CCMC) so why not set a next step and integrate more or merge? The interviewees are not in favour of this option, and mention several arguments against a merger. These relate to differences in culture and practices:

'CENELEC is more internationally focused than CEN. This is because CEN consists of a wide variety of sectors and some of them are more focused on the national level. 80% of our standards are coming from the IEC, which is a substantially higher percentage than the standards coming from ISO to CEN. (...). The way of working is very different. CENELEC starts working on the IEC level and then make modifications where CEN starts more often from a European perspective.

'I know that CEN also has the wish to go to a more international level. (...) They have several sectors which still stick to the national level. The construction area for example. (...) Next, (...) they have a different understanding of the Vienna agreement. So at CENELEC we are used to really start working at the IEC level and then making the common modifications. We take the IEC standard and just modify those parts which don't fit with the European landscape. They are doing it completely different. They just, let's say, they start to develop European standards whenever they want.'

CEN has more projects funded by the EC. Money may bring influence:

'At the electrotechnical side, the industry doesn't need, doesn't want this money for European projects. We want to go international.'

'CEN is much more influenced by the Commission than CENELEC.'

The EC complains that the system of European standardisation is too slow. Interviewees have the perception that decision making at CEN side is slower:

'When we have a lot of common bodies the system has to be adapted to the slower and more inflexible party. We are afraid that working with CEN slows us down.' (...) It's not feasible to force the slower system to go the faster way. It's always the other way around. The fast system has to slow down until it fits to the slower system.' A prerequisite for a merger is that it should improve the situation for electrotechnical industry.

'I'm completely open to a merger of CEN and CENELEC as long as the system is very efficient, powerful and fast. But there seems to be little will to make it lean and efficient.'

# 2.7 CCMC

The CEN-CENELEC Management Centre (CCMC), located in Brussels, is in charge of daily operations, coordination and promotion of all CEN and CENELEC activities. CCMC is responsible for handling the tasks assigned to it by both CEN and CENELEC General Assemblies, the Administrative Boards and the Technical Boards. CCMC is also responsible for correspondence and liaison with the services of the European Commission and the EFTA Secretariat. CCMC is headed by the Director General of CEN and CENELEC, with a staff of some 80 people.

Interviewees are not happy with the merger of CEN and CENELEC offices in CCMC. Traditionally, CEN has a closer relationship with the European Commission and as a result of the merger, CENELEC NCs are faced with more EU policy-related issues.

'What I see coming from Brussels, from the CCMC, is more and more documents to be handled and most of them are set up in a very political way. It's more political work and less technical work. I don't like that at all. We want to work with the technical work to make the world, Europe even better. Still we have to work more and more on political issues. I don't know why but I see it. CCMC is doing what they can do to handle all this. This is not critic towards the CCMC because I think they do the best as they can. And in some way they are also doing a good job for us. I can't see the necessity to work on more political issues. I want to do less political work and more technical work.'

Some interviewees raised the issue that CEN, CENELEC and CCMC have the same head, General Secretary of CEN, General Secretary of CENELEC, and CEO of CCMC, although the interests may differ. This sometimes leads to situations where CCMC forces CEN and CENELEC to align points of view. For instance, a CENELEC decision to give preference to English as the only official language was overruled by CCMC because CEN took another position. This is another complication for CENELEC NCs. Two other examples relate to common systems to be used: the mark-up language XML and the collaboration tool Lifelink:

We had a quite flexible system at the CCMC side when it comes to processing of standards but now it is extremely formalised and slower. Now we got the discussion about the XML format. (...) This XML format discussion is triggered by ISO because they used XML. So it came via CEN to the CCMC. Now they ask us: in the next year you have to deliver all your files in XML. And I ask: what is the

benefit for our technical experts to deliver in XML? They can't give one single argument what the benefit is for our stakeholders. Then it even gets worse. They now have decided for administrative reasons that our technical experts in the committee have to deliver a special format of the files in XML on the one hand, and they have to deliver separately the pictures because this doesn't fit together. Our experts have additional work to do. (...) It's not getting more efficient, it's getting more and more difficult. We 'need' it because CEN has it.'

'Lifelink is a mess. Now, you have to use it. It's more efficient to have just one system. I said: Yes, but take our system. It's much better. Much more flexible. It's a very lean and very simple system but no, we have to use the Lifelink system. I said: why?'

CCMC is partly funded by the EC but faces budget cuts.

'Something has to be changed in order to cope with the reduction of the contribution from the Commission. I don't want to increase the membership fees.'

The merger of the two secretariats to CCMC was intended to lead to more efficiency and the financial figures show that it did, but NCs have to pay the same membership fees. This is related to the decrease in EU funding. The merger did not lead to better coherence between the standards from the two fields.

If even more emphasis shifts from work in CENELEC to IEC, then the role of the secretariat, CCMC, can be further reduced. This should lead to cost reduction. Moreover, some interviewees raise doubts about the cost-effectiveness of CCMC:

'Our idea is to focus everything on the IEC. To get back on the steering wheel. Finally this will lead to cost reduction, efficiency improvement and so on. This is quite beneficial for us, the big ones, but for the smaller ones as well because they have just the idea of cost reduction. Of course they want to have service at the CCMC but they don't want to pay for that. So we have a joint goal. (...) To shift the work to the IEC level finally leads to a reduced CENELEC office.'

To summarise, the interviewees do not see any benefits of the merger. Instead they notice the drawbacks in the form of extra paper work and CCMC interference to align positions with CEN, both sometimes leading to disadvantages for the electrotechnical industry.

## 2.8 Second generation member countries

CENELEC's predecessor CENELCOM was set up in 1959 by the EU countries Belgium, the Netherlands, France, Germany and Italy. In 1960, the CENELCOM members together with Luxembourg and the EFTA countries (at that time) Norway, Sweden, Denmark, UK, Switzerland, Austria and Portugal set up the CENEL cooperation to discuss IEC standards and to find out, by means of questionnaires, how far these standards were

being uniformly implemented within the 13 countries. Soon, Finland joined as well. In 1973, CENEL and CENELCOM merged into CENELEC, also including the Irish Republic but without Luxembourg. Spain joined in 1977, Luxembourg in 1978, Greece in 1980 and Iceland in 1988. The majority of these still have a separate CENELEC NC next to the CEN member body (Norway, Sweden, Finland, the Netherlands, Belgium, Germany, Switzerland, Austria, and Italy). Since 1997, anticipating EU membership, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Iceland, Latvia, Lithuania, The Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, and Turkey have become members. These countries do not have their own CENELEC NC. Most of them also have a smaller electrotechnical industry and thus less tradition in electrotechnical standardisation. The members of countries that used to be under influence of or part of the former Soviet Union have a different standardisation tradition in terms of the role of the national government. Since 2005, these countries in Central, Eastern and Southern Europe have the majority in CENELEC. According to countries that have an independent NC - the countries that initiated this research project - this causes some unforeseen challenges for the functioning of CENELEC:

'The new members are blocking items in the system because they are not really interested in the electrotechnical sector.'

'Countries without an electrotechnical industry miss the expertise to contribute to the process and should not have a vote in the standardisation process. It's very strange that the countries with a long history in the electrotechnical sector can't decide upon the future standardisation. It's very important that the sector can decide because they know what is needed.'

'Countries with no expertise are not able to make the right decision which lowers the competitive position in comparison with Asia, India or the USA.'

'The technical decisions are done in a weighted voting system but at the governance level all votes are equal. The political decisions become more and more important and there the small countries have the same influence as we have even when they have no industry or proper knowledge. Wrong decisions can be made which can be costly for the industry.'

'The new countries are dependent on government funding and will vote how the government wants them to vote. These countries have on average less economic power and industrial experience. These factors are not in balance compared to the power in the voting system. They vote with the same power as Germany or Great Britain which is unbalanced. A comparable system as in IEC could be a solution. Only participating members have a vote and observing members can only raise their concerns but can't vote. In this way the system becomes more knowledge driven and prevent influence from countries which just vote yes.'

'Most of these countries are used to centrally developed standards which are compulsory. (...) Countries which enter the EU are required to cooperate in the

standardisation process but some don't have the experience and history. The problem is that they don't want to invest money and resources in the process and are only waiting for compulsory standards. (...) Standardisation has to basically be voluntary, not a driving part of legislation.'

However, despite these complaints, the interviewees did not provide evidence of (in their perception) wrong decisions due to this majority. Rather, participation in CENELEC seems to be quite a burden for these countries.

'They see the meetings and documents from the CCMC as a burden. Mainly because they don't have an industry to talk to. As a result they often don't know what we are talking about.'

'At the governance level, they are not visible. They complain about cost, and not only that but also about documents they receive from CCMC and all the questionnaires, all the meetings. That's a too heavy burden for them. This is apart from the TCs themselves. It's mainly a burden for them because they have no feedback from stakeholders. Just take the preparation of the BT meeting. Tomorrow we have the BT meeting. It's an agenda of about 20 pages with many technical topics and political topics. In our country we have a quite clear cut system, as it is in the Netherlands, Austria and everywhere, where we try to collect our stakeholders' point of view and then we make a consolidated viewpoint. Then I go to the BT and represent the view of our industry. Our stakeholders' view. When you look at the smaller countries they are sitting in the BT with no clue of what to say. We have 20 pages of real detailed things where you need industry feedback. They are just sitting there and sometimes they don't even know what we are discussing about.'

Countries with less tradition in electrotechnical standardisation tend to participate less in policy issues. For instance, they did not participate in the preparation of recent amendments to the articles of association of CENELEC.

'Standardisation should be voluntary, market driven and satisfying the industry. The Eastern countries don't have an electrotechnical industry which makes them passive in the process. They seldom have input when we talk about innovation because they don't have a history in the electrotechnical sector and I have my doubts whether the Eastern countries want to participate at all. They are used to a more bureaucratic, administrative standardisation process dictated by the authorities instead of the voluntary market-driven standardisation. Now it has been some kind inefficient system in the middle.'

'We don't want to have any Commission money because we want to be independent but the countries from the East want the opposite. They want more money from the Commission. They don't have this history in CENELEC and market driven organisation. Standardisation in the former East, Romania, Hungary, Yugoslavia was owned by the authorities. The authorities did all the standardisation work. It's a kind of double shaped. The one is market driven and the other ones comes from an authority driven, or whatever you call it. It has been some kind of trash in the middle.'

Most 'old' members have an independent NC, the new entrants do not.

'The majority switched over. The old countries missed to face this new challenge of these 10 new countries. We thought it would be as it has always been but we missed to adapt our structures with the voting system to the new situation.'

To summarise, the interviewees' NCs form a minority now although their stakeholders still represent the majority of the electrotechnical industry in Europe. They are afraid that the new majority may take technical or governance-related decisions that are not in the interest of this industry.

## 2.9 Red tape

In the perception of the interviewees, European standardisation has become increasingly bureaucratic.

'The system has become too bureaucratic.'

'We have to handle more and more political issues and more and more documents.'

'We have to document what we do in a detailed manner. I don't need all this information. I don't want new reports or new tools. My country has only 5 million residents.'

'The governance structure should be clear and non-bureaucratic. The structure of CEN-CENELEC is very complex. It has become very formalised and slow.'

'We know that not everything can be done on an international level but standardisation in Europe should be done by a slim and efficient party, by a market driven process.'

Bureaucracy at the European level has repercussions at the national level, both for the standards development process itself and for the administrative role of the NC. In particular, the standards that do not originate from IEC require a lot of attention for NC staff.

'80% of the standardisation is coming from the IEC in the electrotechnical sector and only 20% is really European. (...) 80% of my work is done for 20% of the standards. I'm fully covered with European business.'

The European Commission also requests information, the need of which is not always clear:

'Tomorrow we have to make more recalls to Brussels, to the Commission. We have to tell them what we are doing in a more detailed way. I don't know who needs this information. I don't need it. Don't ask people to do things they don't need. I don't think that the politicians really understand how to use the trends and the data in a constructive way for the future.'

## 2.10 Business models

Business models of standards bodies are outside the scope of this project, but these models are related to governance of standardisation. Each NC has its own business model. Most NCs rely on income from standards sales. Others (also) have governmental funding and some get income from participation or membership fees. Who should pay for (CEN and) CENELEC and their CCMC: members and/or the European Commission?

'The user of the standard should pay for the process.'

'The countries which profit from the standardisation and have an influence in the process should pay for it. The EU tax payer will pay for the EU driven standards, but in my opinions the user of the standard should pay for the process.'

'Financing is an issue. The Slavic countries don't want to put money in the process. Of course they don't have any electrotechnical industry so it's natural that they don't put money. But it's not right that they can decide on an administrative level on the future of electrotechnical industry on European level if they don't have anything in this sector.'

'We want to stay independent. If you agree to funds you will become a prisoner. Eastern countries would like to see these funds.'

#### 2.11 Stakeholder involvement

Interviewees are not satisfied with the prominent position the European Commission gives to 'Annex III organisations': (EU-funded) associations for SMEs, consumers,

workers and environmental affairs at the European level.<sup>5</sup> Their role affects CEN and CENELEC's country model – all stakeholders are assumed to be represented at the national level. Indeed, all are welcome, but in practice participation is unbalanced. This is the rationale behind the European Commission's choice to give these four categories of 'weak' stakeholders a voice at the European level.

# 2.12 Conclusion

The general directors of independent CENELEC member bodies all aim to support the electrotechnical industry in their country. From this perspective, they perceive a set of interrelated problems. These include:

- Concerns whether industry, the main stakeholder in electrotechnical standardisation, can remain in the lead for both technical and for governance issues.
- Concerns that current governance directs most of its attention at the European level of standardisation, whereas the international level is far more important for industry.
- Concerns about the increasing influence of the European Commission and the decreasing influence of industry.
- Concerns about the complex governance structure of CENELEC and its counterpart CEN.
- Concerns about further integration of CENELEC and CEN, which brings more 'political' (non-technical) and European (non-international) issues to CENELEC agenda, leads to a decrease in the influence of the electrotechnical industry on policy, and results in sub-optimal solutions for the electrotechnical sector.
- Dissatisfaction with CEN CENELEC Management Centre that is supportive in regular technical work, but insufficiently supportive in governance-related issues and sometimes putting the wrong emphasis.
- Difficulty to align with newer CENELEC members from Central, Eastern and partly Southern Europe which tend to have less involvement of the electrotechnical industry and have a different culture, which leads to differences in input in CENELEC.
- Bureaucracy: the huge number of governance-related committees and working groups which leads to vast numbers of meetings and documents and puts a huge administrative burden on NCs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> SBS (Small Business Standards), ANEC (The European Consumer Voice in Standardisation), ETUI (European Trade Union Institute), and ECOS (European Environmental Citizens Organisation for Standardisation).

# 3 Analysis

This chapter analyses the challenges raised by the interviewees using the same sequence as in Chapter 2. Is evidence available? What are the causes of the problems mentioned? Will other stakeholders agree? In order to improve the situation, change will be needed and therefore Section 3.12 uses a strategic change approach to discuss which kinds of changes might be feasible.

## 3.1 Industry lead

The electrotechnical industry needs standards to ensure that components, products and systems are interoperable and safe, and to support healthy competition in the market. Moreover, standards set common baselines for technology development. From a historical perspective, electrotechnical standardisation stems from joint efforts by (associations of) engineers and, in particular at IEC level, also scientists such as Lord Kelvin.<sup>6</sup> Industry got involved via engineers. This industry included manufacturers of electrical components and equipment, and electricity companies. So this field of standardisation had multi-stakeholder involvement from the outset. The term 'industry' may hide this. Moreover, industry includes a diversity of companies in terms of, for example:

- size (from very small to very big)
- geographic coverage in production (single plant versus multinational)
- place/role in the supply chain (components, subassembly, product, system, grocery, retailer, installer, test institute, certification body, etc.),
- market size (local, national, European, international)
- market (business to business or business to consumer).

In the case of integrated systems, other stakeholders are also relevant, for example, medical institutions and insurance companies in the case of medical systems. Moreover, governments at the national and European level cannot be ignored, and societal stakeholders such as trade unions, consumer organisations and NGOs have become increasingly relevant.

In relation to standardisation, Jakobs<sup>7</sup> distinguishes three categories of companies: Contributors, Followers, and Spectators:

- 'A Contributor company is an active participant in the standardisation process and contributes to the development of the content of the standard. Yet, it is less interested in (or lacks resources for) influencing the strategic direction of an SSO.<sup>8</sup> Innovating companies and manufacturers typically constitute this category.
- Followers want to enjoy full membership privileges and may occasionally want to influence the technical contents of a standard (in addition to gathering intelligence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Frary, 2004; Teichmann, 2001.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Jakobs, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Standards Setting Organisation.

They are, however, not very interested to influence the strategic direction of an SSO. Large users, SME vendors and manufacturers are typical members of this category.

• A Spectator's main motivation for participation is intelligence gathering. Spectators do not actively contribute to the creation of the standard. Rather, they want to be informed about the technical nuts and bolts of a future standard. Typically, this group primarily comprises academics, consultants, and to some extent, developers and system integrators.'

The interviewees are afraid that essential choices are made by 'bureaucrats' from standards bodies (!) and the European Commission. However, data from CENELEC<sup>9</sup> suggest that the industry is currently failing to take the lead in CENELEC. The main reason is that the industry thinks that IEC should take the leading role at the international level, and therefore wants to focus its involvement mainly on that level - this applies to both industry and to NCs. Indeed, the market for electrotechnical products is global, and many of the producing companies are multinationals or are located outside Europe, so in this sense there is no need to have other European standards than those fully identical to IEC standards. However, not only standards related to European (safety) regulation may be specific for Europe. Standards for complex systems in which electrotechnology is integrated with ICT is an application area which may be specific for Europe or relate to European priorities (and even the national or local levels may need specific standards). Examples include multi-modal transport, home care for the elderly and water management ('smart dikes'). Even the fully electrotechnical topic of the future energy supply in Europe has not been seriously discussed in CENELEC. The European Commission launches standardisation requests on such topics. Then industry has to react to these proposals and, if approved, may feel forced to participate in TCs whose agenda has been set mainly by the EC. Rather than blaming the EC, the industry, NCs and CENELEC might think about how to avoid this in the future and take the lead themselves, in balanced cooperation with other stakeholders. This will be further discussed in the next chapter.

The lack of industry lead at the European level may also relate to another issue: the difficulty for industry to send knowledgeable people who can devote a substantial amount of time to standardisation. Traditionally, these were mostly experts from bigger companies such as Siemens and ABB. Such companies used to have, and in several cases still have, a standardisation department. However, such staff positions are in jeopardy or have already disappeared due to several reasons such as the following:

- Their work is service work with limited possibilities for automation. Other functions within companies, in particular, production, can profit much more from automation. This has made standardisation relatively more expensive.
- This applies to other central administrative staff functions such as human resource management and quality management as well. Meanwhile, it is business fashion to de-staff administration and leave it to the line organisation to take up traditional administrative tasks. Standardisation suffers even more because its strategic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The researcher received all governance-related documents that were sent to the CENELEC NCs by CCMC at the end of 2014 and at the beginning of 2015.

importance is not well understood. As a result, systematic attention for and knowledge of standardisation disappears – but who cares?

- This 'who cares' attitude relates to the company's incentive structure. The Anglo-Saxon short-term shareholder thinking tends to ignore standardisation because by definition standardisation investment requires a medium-to longer-term perspective because most benefits will come after some years. This means that the activity can be scrapped in the short term without immediate harm to the company.
- Company management and business consultants lack knowledge about the strategic importance of standardisation unseen and unloved.
- Practitioners lack knowledge and skills to do a good job and as a result often do a poor job, related to technical documentation rather than company strategy.<sup>10</sup>
- As a result, the tasks may be given to relatively older people who are experienced and conscientious, but maybe less open to new developments.
- Lack of recognised education with related academic and professional qualifications hinders the recognition of the professional as well as the profession.
- The lack of education relates to the lack of manifest demand. The request for standardisation education should come from industry, but they lack the knowledge and vision to request it a typical chicken-and egg situation.

These interrelated factors constitute a situation in which it is increasingly difficult to send qualified people to technical standardisation committees and even more difficult to delegate people for governance-related activities. The alternative is to send staff from the NCs – they are full-time standardisers. However, the question is to what extent can they translate opportunities for industry and other stakeholders into an agenda for future standardisation? Most of the above-mentioned factors apply to them as well. So there is not only a capacity problem, but also a problem of knowledge and skills. This will also be addressed in the next chapter.

# 3.2 Three levels: International, European, national

Three levels of electrotechnical standardisation can be distinguished: international (IEC), European (CENELEC) and national (the NCs). The IEC continues to develop relevant standards and it makes sense to rubberstamp these as European standards to ensure adoption in national standards systems in Europe and to allow reference to these standards in European legislation. Moreover, the Stand Still Procedure<sup>11</sup> in combination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For instance, in the case of the task of industry participation in international standardisation, research has revealed more than 100 factors that contribute to successful participation (Brons, 2007). Most participants in international standardisation are not aware of such factors. They spend several days or weeks a year in standardisation activities and have the impression that they are doing a good job, but are not aware that their efforts could be much more effective.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Agreement between CENELEC NCs not to take any action, during the preparation of a European Standard (EN) or after its approval, that could prejudice the intended harmonization and, in particular, not to publish a new or revised national standard that is not identical to an existing EN.

with the Dresden Agreement<sup>12</sup> avoids the development of deviating national standards. This approach is relevant also for the Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership. The best way to achieve the goal of "one standard, one test, accepted everywhere" is via international standards, developed by IEC (and ISO) and implemented in the national standards systems.<sup>13</sup> Whereas the US has competing standards and also deviations per state, Europe has achieved harmonisation. This is a success story. However, as mentioned before, the European, national and even local level remain of importance. In fact, the local level is becoming increasingly important as part of the counter-movement against globalisation.<sup>14</sup> This should also be a reason to strategically discuss standards development at the European level and then to decide which level or combination of levels is most appropriate.

For this discussion, it is necessary to distinguish the geographic spread of the *use* of the processes, products, services, and systems for which the standards are developed and the geographic spread of the *production* of process elements, products, services, and systems. To start with the use side, the question is: is there any reason why the processes, products, services, and systems should differ in different parts of the world? If not, then the international level is the natural one. If there are differences, then the question is: should the use be discussed at the lowest level applicable or at the levels above as well? For instance, in Switzerland, standards for climate systems in houses may differ per canton because requirements for buildings differ per canton. The national level is relevant, but also the EU level because of a relation to legislation such as New Approach directives. Many system components are identical to components for similar systems anywhere else in the world. Typically, standards for such systems should be discussed at all levels, and here the alignment between IEC and CENELEC and the current system of national membership (NCs) is a major strength.

At the supply side, the same levels apply. In this Swiss example, installers in their own canton will be more familiar with local standards than installers from other cantons, and they may have to comply with national safety standards for their operations. Component manufacturers may produce for the global market. So also from a supplier perspective, standards should be developed and discussed at different levels. Moreover, in order to influence standards at a 'higher' level, it can be beneficial to first develop them at a lower level. A company standard may be used as the starting document for a national standard, which in turn may be the starting point for a European or international one. This is an effective strategy because parties that bring a starting document for a new standard have much more influence than all other participants who then comment on that document.<sup>15</sup> Due to this mechanism, promoting national or European standards for inclusion in other standards collections may be beneficial for the 'home' industry.<sup>16</sup> Developing standards

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Agreement between IEC and CENELEC for parallel development of international and European standards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Orgalime, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Alpe et al., 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Blind, 2009; de Vries, 1999; Simons & de Vries; 2002; Swan, 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> An example is the agreement between BSI and China to put forward British and European standards for potential recognition in China. 'Following the signing of this historic agreement (..) we received numerous

at the European level first, with a limited number of countries that have some similarities in culture and business practice may be easier than developing such standards at the international level from the outset. To conclude, it is important to note that although the international level is the most relevant for the industry, the European and national levels are important as well.

## 3.3 System technologies

Standardisation is an important instrument for successful technology conversion, in particular, in early stages of development. So standards are needed and it is a challenge for standardisation organisations to develop sets of coherent standards for convergent technologies.<sup>17</sup> In a technical sense, electrotechnology is interwoven with ICT and other fields, and as a consequence, markets also converge.



Figure 1: Converging of technologies and related markets

Specific electrotechnical standards remain, but in complex systems standards from various domains are combined and some standards are a mix of various domains, e.g., standards for specific sensors. The 'natural' level for developing system-related standards is case-dependent and may be local, national, European or international.

recommendations of British standards for adoption in China. The purpose of this recognition will be to promote UK trade in China.' (BSI, 2014, p. 22).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Gauch & Blind, 2015.

The IEC introduced a systems approach to new fields of standardisation. 'The multiplicity of technologies and their convergence in many new and emerging markets, however particularly those involving large-scale infrastructure demand a top-down approach to standardisation, starting at the system or system-architecture rather than at the product level. Therefore, the Systems Work will define and strengthen the systems approach throughout the technical community to ensure that highly complex market sectors can be properly addressed and supported. It promotes an increased co-operation with many other standards-developing organisations and relevant non-standards bodies needed on an international level. (...) The Systems Evaluation Groups (SEG) identify new technical areas and anticipate emerging markets/technologies that require a systems approach as well as define and implement enhancements to the TC/SC structure for improved functionality, notably to improve coordination on issues that cross traditional boundaries. Systems Committees (SyC) aim to extend the use of strategic or other horizontal groups to bridge areas covered by more than one or two TC/SCs. TCs with a Systems Function remain unchanged and continue working on Systems.'<sup>18</sup>

Topics for which the IEC uses a systems approach include Smart Cities, Smart Grids, Ambient Assisted Living, Electrotechnology for Mobility, and Smart Energy. Such projects may reveal whether it makes sense to also have standards for lower levels: regional, national, local, and maybe also standards from industry consortia, trade associations, or professional societies.<sup>19</sup> But then it also makes sense to discuss sets of standards for systems at regional and national level if that system which is relevant for a region or country (e.g., standards for a Tsunami warning system) may be not relevant for Europe. But, maybe such a first impression is wrong (in the Tsunami case, European donor agencies may want to be involved and European manufacturers might design or produce system components). It can even be argued that the move towards the international level for systems standardisation and for global business will make the regional context become more and more important because these (connected) systems, especially with an increasing share of software, are not developed for a one stop shop, the system will have to be tailor-made to specific user needs. Then the context of complex products and systems becomes important. In network theory, complexity moves towards its edges if the complexity of a centralised system increases. Should the international level indeed be the natural level for systems standardisation or should European stakeholders take the initiative via CENELEC?

In order to develop a coherent set of standards for system technologies, a systems approach to standardisation is needed.<sup>20</sup> Using such an approach requires specific standardisation expertise. The question is whether companies, standards bodies, and other stakeholders have this expertise. In general, they lack it and this constitutes a problem for future standards development. Those with the better expertise, particularly Korea, may become the leaders in standardisation and this may result in business

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> IEC, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> de Vries, 1999.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See for a description and further references De Vries, 1999, Chapter 13.

leadership. In the Korean case, the expertise is related to the country's forerunner position in international standardisation education and research.<sup>21</sup>

The Expert Panel for the Review of the European Standardisation System (EXPRESS)<sup>22</sup> has not addressed system technologies explicitly, but has recommended a link between the identification of future fields for standardisation and future foresight activities, including technology road-mapping under the R&D Framework Programmes – a notable advice.

## 3.4 Role of the European Union

The current role of the European Union in relation to European standardisation can be better understood by examining how their relation has developed over the years. First (3.4.1), we highlight some elements from the history of European standardisation. Next (3.4.2) we present some findings from an academic study on the European Commission's interventions in European standardisation. Then, we delve deeper into the roles of public and private organisations, and finally we discuss the relation between the EU and CENELEC.

#### 3.4.1 History of European Standardisation

The roots of European standardisation are not in industry but in the Marshall Plan. On invitation of the European Organization for European Economic Co-operation (OEEC), a subsidiary body to the Marshall Plan, representatives from national standardisation organisations in Europe were invited for a meeting in Paris in the early 1950s to discuss cooperation in the field of standardisation to increase economic integration in Europe. Since then they have met every year.<sup>23</sup> The initial idea was to develop and unify standards of public interest and improve implementation, with national and international standards bodies responsible for the technical work. The French proposed integration within the framework of the European Economic Community, established in 1958, whereas nonmember countries disagreed and founded the European Free Trade Association EFTA in 1960. To intensify the cooperation in the field of standardisation in Europe and ignoring the political tension between EEC and EFTA countries, the Comité Européen de Coordination des Normes CEN (later: Comité Européen de Normalisation) was created, in 1961.<sup>24</sup> CEN was reluctant to develop its own standards, but served to promote the development and application of ISO standards. CEN's first standard, EN 2, was published in 1972. The massive production of European standards started when the European

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The Korean association of standardisation researchers, Society for Standards and Standardisation, has more members than its European counterpart European Academy for Standardisation EURAS. For the education side, see Choi and De Vries (2013). For a strategic analysis of the need for better education about standardisation in Europe, see Hesser & de Vries (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> EXPRESS, 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Abécassis 1995; Czaya, 2007; Hesser & Csaya, 2010; OECD, 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Abécassis, 1995; Czaya, 2007; Hesser & Czaya, 2010.

Commission requested specific standards that it could refer to in its directives, in the early 1970s.<sup>25</sup> CENELEC's history has already been described in Section 2.8. It was founded in 1973 and its emphasis has always been on the common adoption of IEC standards. The number of 'own' CENELEC standards has remained limited.

The third European Standardisation Organisation, the European Telecommunication Standards Institute ETSI, was founded in 1988. Before this time, the Conférence Européenne des Administrations des Postes et Telecommunications (CEPT) had been responsible for telecommunication standardisation in Europe. In the 1970s and 1980s, they took steps to exchange views with industry. The topic of functional standards (FSs), which provide a chosen set of functionalities from the options given in the Open Systems Interconnection (OSI) model, led to a competition between CEN, CENELEC and CEPT, each claiming this area. The EC and EFTA managed to convince them to cooperate on this issue and they created the Information Technologies Steering Committee (ITSTC). However, the national delegation system of CEN and CENELEC and the PTT membership of CEPT did not allow direct industry participation, which triggered the creation of the European Workshop for Open Systems (EWOS). The EU asked EWOS to develop European FSs. Neither OSI nor FSs became successful in the market, but this form of cooperation in standards setting was seen as appropriate for the ICT field and influenced a Green paper on telecommunications<sup>26</sup> in which the European Commission proposed to introduce competition in the telecom market, and to ensure interoperability by means of standardisation. An independent European telecommunications standards institute was proposed to assure the timely development of the necessary standards. The creation of this body caused another battle between CEN, CENELEC, and CEPT. CEPT finally managed to establish ETSI in 1988. ETSI is recognized by the European Union (EU) as an official European Standards Organization (ESO).<sup>27</sup>

Czaya<sup>28</sup> concludes that the foundation of CEN and CENELEC, though based on private initiative, was motivated not only by technical and economic, but also by political considerations. However, better than politicians at that time, they managed to unite EEC and EFTA member countries. This tradition has continued. Today, non-EU and non-EFTA countries such as the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and Turkey are CEN and CENELEC members. ETSI has opened membership to companies outside Europe.

Meanwhile, there are more than 50,000 European standards and similar deliverables. Approximately 100,000<sup>29</sup> experts are active in standardisation committees at the European or national level. This requires a huge investment in time and thus money<sup>30</sup> but the business stakes should justify this. Research suggests that 10% to 30% of gross national product growth is directly related to such standards, which demonstrates the enormous importance of standards for the single European market.<sup>31</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Abécassis, 1995.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Commission of the European Communities, 1987.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Chauvel, 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Czaya, 2007; Hesser & Czaya 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Estimation by the author by extrapolating figures from some countries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Spring and Weiss (1995) estimated the cost of developing one IT standard to amount to \$ 10,000,000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Blind & Jungmittag, 2008.

We can conclude that the start and growth of European standardisation was mainly triggered by the political environment, and this is continuing. The European Commission embraces it as an important instrument for the functioning of the single market without barriers to trade, to strengthen Europe's industry, to support innovation, and to facilitate the realisation of other policy objectives. However, it does this primaily by means of legislation – an instrument that might be counterproductive.

The first and most important EU initiative was to national legislation, mainly about product safety, and references to standards in this legislation. Meanwhile, this has been accomplished: product safety regulation has been established at the European level in the form of European directives. Its contents has to be implemented in national legislation. Then laws at the national level refer to the national version of the European standard. The 'New Approach' directives in which essential requirements for (mostly) safety are laid down started with the Low Voltage Directive in 1973.<sup>32</sup> The 'New Approach' is a European success story, and the system is probably superior to the American one.<sup>33</sup>

The first European legislation about standardisation itself was the Directive 83/189/EEC on a procedure for the provision of information in the field of technical standards and regulation.<sup>34</sup> This directive obliged national standards bodies to inform the European Commission and the other national standards bodies in EEC member countries about its standardisation programme. Other legislation relating to standards followed, for instance in the areas of public procurement<sup>35</sup> and product liability.<sup>36</sup> The most recent legislation, which combines several previous ones, was published in 2012.<sup>37</sup>

The interviewees are not the only actors to express concerns about the current role of the European Commission. Relating to voting rights within standards bodies, Orgalime<sup>38</sup> argues: 'I strongly believe that it is not up to regulators to seek to impose governance rules on private organisations such as ESOs that would not be considered as acceptable and desirable by their members, the national standards organisations (NSOs). (...) It should be entirely up to ESOs to decide the conditions and procedures to put it in place to do it, free from any interference from public authorities.'<sup>39</sup>

To conclude, there is an issue about the private character of national and European standardisation organisations. The increasing public recognition of the role of standards

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Council of the European Communities, 1973.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Therefore, the Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP) is a serious danger to the European system, integration of the two systems would affect European industry. For a clear introduction to this topic see CEN-CENELEC, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> European Council, 1983.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Blind, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Stuurman, 1995.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> European Parliament and Council, 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> European federation representing the interests at the level of the EU institutions of the European mechanical, electrical, electronic and metal articles industries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Orgalime, 2011b, p. 2.

has led to a growing interest from the public side to get a grip on standardisation by means of regulation and other measures such as 'mandates'.

#### 3.4.2 European Commission intervention in Standardisation

This subsection presents some findings from a recent study about interventions of the European Commission in standardisation.<sup>40</sup> As such, public authorities' involvement in standardisation is not new. 'For over two thousand years, political leaders have presided over the creation of standards and have used their authority to enforce the use of particular standards. Through this involvement, rulers and regulators sought to enhance their own prestige and power, while simultaneously seeking to improve their own economic fortunes and those of their constituents.'<sup>41</sup> Governmental involvement in national standardisation organisations can also be observed, in various and changing forms, not only in central economies but also in countries such as Denmark, Norway and the Netherlands.<sup>42</sup>

Meyer<sup>43</sup> studied four cases of European Commission intervention in standardisation: mobile telecom (GSM and UMTS), High-Definition Television, digital television, and containers for intermodal transport. He distinguishes between two forms of intervention: hierarchical interventions and entrepreneurial interventions. The former are commandand-control-based and prompt industry to develop and/or comply with a standard by means of positive or negative sanctions. Instruments include legislation and 'mandates'. Entrepreneurial interventions are 'soft' and non-hierarchical and include agenda-setting (discovery of unfulfilled needs and suggesting innovative means to satisfy these<sup>44</sup>), promoting consensus-building, conflict mediation, and ensuring commitment. Hierarchical interventions hinder standardisation because they increase the number of 'veto players' and make the standardisation process more political, at the cost of the technical character. Even the threat of a hierarchical intervention has a negative impact. Entrepreneurial interventions, on the other hand, can have a positive impact in cases when industry players cannot reach consensus. This is, in particular, the case (1) if companies have already made considerable investments in competing technologies so that a common standard would lead to serious losses for some of them, (2) if strategic interests diverge, (3) if companies expect the new standard to deteriorate their current market position, or (4) if network effects and scale economies allow individual companies to unilaterally set a de facto standard. Cases show that the European Commission was able to perform three vital functions: identifying standardisation problems, proposing solutions, and mobilising standardisation coalitions. To nuance the claims of EC interventions: other researchers state that in the GSM case and the HDTV case, the EC intervention was less relevant than described by Meyer.<sup>45</sup> Meyer bases his assessment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Meyer, 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Russell, 2007, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Bundgaard-Pedersen, 1997.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Meyer, 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Kingdon, 1984, as quoted by Meyer, 212, p. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Bekkers, 2001; Simons & de Vries, 2002.

of intervention on its positive or negative impact on the standardisation effort, but it can be questioned if this should be the only criterion. Is it not too technocratic to be used in a political context? In his study, he uses the term 'output legitimacy': does the outcome justify an intervention? He also discusses 'input legitimacy' and in the case of entrepreneurial intervention, there is a problem with this legitimacy because democratic accountability is at stake.

#### 3.4.3 Abraham Kuyper's Societal Architecture

We now will examine the issue of public interference in private organisations more in general, before applying the findings to the relation between (CEN and) CENELEC and the European Commission. Different views on the relationship between public and private sectors exist, and these can be related to political preferences. The current mainstream seems to be liberalism, often advocating a 'small government' - the 'invisible hand' of market forces should contribute to a state of common welfare. In contrast, socialism does not want to rely on the market and sees a need for governmental involvement in many areas. Liberalism and socialism have in common that they see government 'above' other organisations and 'autonomous' citizens. The EU shows a mix of liberal and socialist characteristics. Both stem from the Enlightenment and subsequently the French Revolution which stopped the 'ancient regime' of monarchy, and aristocratic and religious privileges. A different and innovative political approach was developed in the Netherlands by Guillaume Groen van Prinsterer (1801-1876) and later, by Abraham Kuyper (1837-1920). This approach may be relevant for the current debate about the balance between public (national government, European Commission) and private (industry and other nongovernmental organisations including standards bodies at the national and European level). For Kuyper, the term "sovereignty" was important. He noticed two extremes. In the French approach, rights originated with the individual, whereas in the German approach all rights are derived from the state. Instead, he wanted to honour the "intermediate bodies" in society, such as schools and universities, the press, business and industry, the arts etc., each of which would be sovereign in its own sphere and, in the end, derive this sovereignty from God and be dependent on Him. Each sphere (or sector) of life has its own distinct responsibilities and authority or competence, and stands equal to other spheres of life. Sphere sovereignty implies that no one area of life or societal community is sovereign over another. Each sphere has its own created integrity. Then government is not 'above' other organisations, but next to them on the same level. Its responsibility includes legislation and this may include legislation for the relationships between different societal communities in order to avoid that these harm each other. Kuyper advocated parliamentary democracy with two houses of parliament: a house of commons elected by citizens, and a senate which should represent the various interest, vocational and professional groups in society. Norms apply for each category of societal communities (such as those for purposes of education, worship, civil justice, agriculture, economy and labour, marriage and family, artistic expression, etc.). Boundaries between different societal communities should be respected. During history, new societal communities
emerge and existing ones get a more distinct profile, this is called 'differentiation' within society.<sup>46</sup> In this way, society develops bottom-up instead of top-down.<sup>47</sup>

#### 3.4.4 Sphere Sovereignty and European Standardisation

In terms of Kuyper, the start of the development of national standards and IEC standards in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century can be seen as the sphere of business developing itself by setting rules for its functioning, and differentiating by creating distinct organisations for this purpose. It was and is this sphere's own responsibility to do this in a proper way, and there is no need at all for government to intervene. If the business sectors had taken their responsibility, governments would not have needed to come up with technical regulations. The fact that they did signals that industry did not take its responsibility seriously enough, because apparently their products and methods could seriously affect consumers and workers. Such irresponsible behaviour can justify governments to intervene, using an instrument that fits their special role in society: legislation. Here Kuyper would have been a strong supporter of a system in which the law sets only essential rather than detailed requirements, and would then have preferred industry to prepare the standards. Indeed, this is the basic idea behind the New Approach at the European level, but also used at the national level in many countries.

Cooperation between national organisations to create common European organisations can be a next step in societal development. This applies both to states that cooperate by forming the European Communities and later the European Union, and to national standards bodies establishing European standardisation organisations. Such cooperation may include the common decision to move a part of the national sovereignty to the European level, in the sense that the national organisations would agree to adhere to common European rules. However, Kuyper would have been reluctant to give the European level too much power to interfere because then differentiation of society would degenerate into enforced unity. In current practice, the standardisation organisations at the European (and international) level allow their members to be guite diverse, so this does not seem to be a major issue. The agreement that national standards have to be withdrawn if they contradict European ones may be more problematic because specific national circumstances and preferences may justify having deviating national standards. Here the internal regulations of CEN and CENELEC provide an escape, though only in exceptional cases of special national circumstances such as climate, electrical earthing conditions, or national regulation.48

The European Union was created as a union of independent national states but meanwhile it has several state-characteristics itself. It uses the organising principle of subsidiarity: 'Under the principle of subsidiarity, in areas which do not fall within its exclusive competence, the Union shall act only if and in so far as the objectives of the proposed action cannot be sufficiently achieved by the Member States, either at central

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Kuyper, 1898.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> van Duijn, 1984, p. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> CEN-CENELEC, 2011, Annex ZB.

level or at regional and local level, but can rather, by reason of the scale or effects of the proposed action, be better achieved at Union level. The institutions of the Union shall apply the principle of subsidiarity as laid down in the Protocol on the application of the principles of subsidiarity and proportionality. National Parliaments ensure compliance with the principle of subsidiarity in accordance with the procedure set out in that Protocol.'<sup>49</sup> This principle, a secular version of the similar principle developed by the Roman Catholic Church, should avoid centralisation of power at the European level, but in practice does not withhold it. Moreover, the phrase 'in areas which do not fall within its exclusive competence' allows the EU to have areas in which it does have exclusive competence. In practice, the subsequent versions of the EU Treaty and EU practice move the EU further in the direction of the United States of Europe.<sup>50</sup> To conclude, the EU increasingly imposes measures on member states and, moreover, this is not limited to the sphere of the state, but also impacts other spheres in society including companies and, more specifically, standardisation organisations and their activities, at the European and subsequently also at the national level.

#### 3.4.5 EU Position

The researcher had the opportunity to ask European Commission staff involved in standardisation matters some questions about a document in which they clarify their role in relation to the European Standardisation Organisations.<sup>51</sup> One of the questions was: How does the Commission see itself, as a stakeholder next to other stakeholders in standardisation or above these? The answer was: 'As a stakeholder next to other stakeholders. However, in its role as legislator, the EC has to ensure that the system of 'mandates' functions as intended.' Another question was: How does the Commission see standardisation, as a legal activity or as an economic activity? The answer was: 'As an economic activity with legal implications in terms of private law, but sometimes (20% of the cases) also in public law.' These answers seem to provide opportunities for a dialogue to find a proper balance of responsibilities, authorities and tasks for the European Commission and CENELEC (and CEN and ETSI).

In a second interview, the European Commission representatives emphasised that standardisation is relevant for several European policy areas such as the internal energy market for electricity and gas, and the Digital Agenda for Europe including the Connecting Europe project. Standards have a prominent place in making things happen. The international position is also relevant. Currently, Europe is losing intellectual base to India, the US and other countries because the ESOs are insufficiently prepared for the challenges of today. The European aerospace industry is an example of this. Airbus and its suppliers decided to go to the US to establish standards. The European Aviation Safety Agency EASA now has a veto right in the US, whereas they do not even have the right to speak in CEN. So, because of both the European Commission's priority areas and Europe's international competitive position, the EU needs a well-functioning European

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> European Commission, 2010, Article 5 - 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Luitwieler, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> European Commission, 2014b.

standards system. Therefore, the European Commission would prefer the ESOs to play a more pro-active role. The EC is willing to respect ESOs' governance structure, and there will always be a willingness to co-operate, whatever choices the ESOs, as private organisations, make. Currently, the ESOs have a privileged position, laid down in legislation,<sup>52</sup> and industry and other stakeholders should welcome and make use of this position, more and better than they currently do.

#### 3.4.6 Conclusions and Discussion

We can conclude that the decision of the NSBs to establish CEN and CENELEC can be seen as the business world taking its responsibility to contribute to the political wish to have a single European market without barriers to trade. The EC's New Approach with references to standards in legislation shows respect for the distinct responsibilities of the private sphere of standardisation and the public sphere of legislation although the amount of legislation may be disputed – is all of it really necessary?<sup>53</sup>

Additionally, there is the issue of the EU regulating the standardisation process and its organisations. On the positive side, this provides extra legitimacy for the work of CEN, CENELEC, and ETSI which is important not only for public authorities but also for companies and other stakeholders. So backing up the standardisation work by regulation makes the activities of CENELEC (and CEN and ETSI) even more relevant, but also puts a huge burden on their daily work. The cases of the International Organization for Standardization ISO and the International Electrotechnical Commission IEC that manage to function without such legislation<sup>54</sup> suggest that this regulation is superfluous and a perfect candidate for the priority of the current European Commission to remove unnecessary legislation. Kuyper would argue that this legislation in its current form is undesirable for two reasons: the public sphere at EU level should not intervene in the private sphere of the European Standardisation organisations, and the EU should not force national governments in member states to intervene in the private sphere of national standards bodies. It would be better to leave the decisions up to the nations. The examples of ISO and IEC show that countries all over the world manage to find their own solution – with or without national legislation.<sup>55</sup>

Meanwhile, the number of industrial consortia that develop standards is increasing. These consortia escape European rules but have become so important, in particular in the ICT field, that the new legislation<sup>56</sup> now provides more space for them. It would be interesting to study whether the growing market share of consortia in standards setting is related to dissatisfaction about formal standardisation and, in the European case, to EC interference in the rules they impose and the standardisation agenda they influence. However, this is beyond the scope of this study. The rise in the number of consortia has resulted in a non-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> European Parliament and Council, 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> The (EU-recognized) European Standardisation Organisations CEN, CENELEC and ETSI.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> However, the Technical Barriers to Trade Agreement of the World Trade Organization is an example at the global level of a tight relationship between public authorities and standards setters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> However, because the legislation gives the ESOs a privileged position they may want to keep it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> European Commission, 2012.

transparent number of standards, making it difficult for companies and other stakeholders to choose the right one. This hinders investments in new technologies and as a result, innovation is hampered instead of stimulated. <sup>57</sup> This suggests that the European Commission's interventions are counterproductive, also because most interventions are hierarchical rather than entrepreneurial.

CENELEC and its NCs cannot ignore the current European legal framework, but could focus more on their private character. Ultimately, European industry might create a new alternative standardisation infrastructure, which would have advantages compared to the current cocktail of consortia as well as to the current situation of ESOs being held hostage by the European Commission.<sup>58</sup>

Kuyper developed his approach as an alternative for liberalism and socialism. The EU's policy has characteristics of liberalism in the sense that the free market is seen as essential for economic growth and prosperity. However, the EU has implemented many instruments for regulation of markets and support of societal objectives, and in this sense it may be characterised as more socialistic. More specific in relation to standardisation, the European Commission recognises the value of market-driven standardisation, but then regulates it and forces the system to increasingly follow the 'state' agenda, for reasons of 'the common good': a combination of free market and control. Following Kuyper would have strengthened the recognition of the importance of private standards bodies to compensate market failure. Why shouldn't this also be appreciated by both liberals and socialists?

In summary, CENELEC (and CEN and ETSI) should become more pro-active in setting priorities in standardisation in Europe. This does not exclude the possibility that these standards are developed at the international level – also for standards related to legislation this would not be a problem for the EC. Then the ESOs would be a stronger partner for the EU, 'next' to them and not 'under' them. EC representatives have expressed that they would fully appreciate this.

## 3.5 **CENELEC** governance structure

The management literature distinguishes various 'management by' options, such as 'management by objectives', 'management by delegation', 'management by exception' and even 'management by walking around'. Standardisation organisations seem to 'manage by creating committees' and this leads to an overloaded governance structure. The activities of the various groups in CENELEC's governance structure leads to a considerable workload for the NCs and for stakeholders in the member countries, if they get involved. The national permanent delegates to the CENELEC Technical Board play

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> van de Kaa, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> The researcher heard this suggestion from an industry association representative involved in European standardisation policy making.

a central role.<sup>59</sup> The working group CENELEC/BT Action Plan has made an inventory on how they prepare a national position.<sup>60</sup> Cases from Bulgaria, Denmark, Estonia, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland, and Slovakia show that each country takes the documents received from CCMC as the starting point. Often it is not immediately completely clear how to handle them, so the permanent delegate takes a guick look and forwards them to the right people, and/or puts them on the NC's intranet, and/or takes action himself. Documents related to technical matters go to the applicable technical committee at the national level, but not all NCs have a mirror committee for each CENELEC TC. Moreover, there is no CENELEC TC for some topics, so no mirror committee either. The NCs differ in how they handle these documents. In some cases, they also contact national stakeholders not yet represented in their national technical committees. Based on the feedback, if any, the national delegate decides how to vote / react. In some countries, this is done directly by the mirror committee in charge. It is even more complicated to prepare a national position for non-technical topics. Bigger countries tend to seek feedback from a small group of devoted stakeholders. In other countries, all positions are prepared within the NC, without feedback from national stakeholders.

From reading agendas and meeting reports, the impression is that most meetings are about details. This even applies to the working group on BT Efficiency. The main strategic technical issues and the strategies related to these are not discussed – at least this is not reflected in any of the hundreds of pages the researcher received. It is astonishing to notice that even the options for future electricity supply in Europe and consequences of this for the standardisation agenda are not discussed in CENELEC.

## 3.6 Merger between CEN and CENELEC

CEN and CENELEC have a lot in common. From a technical and from a business point of view, the reasons to have a separate committee for electrotechnical standardisation seem to have disappeared. A merger would allow one spot shopping for customers. Duplication of efforts would be avoided, which would be beneficial for common member bodies. At secretariat level, this could lead to a reduction in costs.

Mergers and acquisitions have been studied by Professor Hans Schenk of the University of Utrecht, the Netherlands. His research shows that most mergers fail because the intended benefits are not achieved or the results are even negative: in the case of listed companies, 65% in the financial sector, and 85% in other sectors.<sup>61</sup> CEN and CENELEC are not listed companies but also for them, there should be strong arguments for a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Remarkably, representatives of the European Commission and the EFTA Secretariat and, subject to contractual agreements, other organisations are invited to attend Technical Board meetings as observers. In special cases, the chairman may also invite experts to take part in Technical Board discussions (CENELEC, 2014a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> CENELEC, 2014b.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Source: personal communication with Professor Schenk.

merger, otherwise, following Schenk, it is better not to merge. Are the above arguments indeed strong enough?

CEN and CENELEC are different legal entities and each have their own set of technical committees headed by a Technical Board, but the way these TCs operate has been aligned almost entirely. In the governance structure, they have their own General Assembly and Administrative Board and several other committees and groups. The structure is rather similar and they have several joint committees.<sup>62</sup> CENELEC is related to IEC and CEN is related to ISO, and in the majority of member countries, the member body is the same. However, in nine countries the CEN and CENELEC members are different organisations.

From a historical perspective, CEN and CENELEC exist next to each other because ISO and IEC are separate organisations. The IEC started in 1906 at the international level from the outset and its members are just 'National Committees'. ISO's roots go back to 1926<sup>63</sup> but the organisation was founded in 1946. ISO was created as a form of cooperation between independent National Standardisation Organisations. These differences are still visible in current practice. CENELEC has much more focus on the adoption of IEC standards, whereas CEN develops more own standards.

The electrotechnical field used to have and partly still has clear main stakeholder groups: producers of electrotechnical products and equipment, electricity producers and distributers, and installers, authorities in charge of safety, inspection bodies, and certification organisations. Most standards concern safety and interoperability. In ISO and CEN, there are many technical fields with a huge variety of stakeholders and standardisation topics. The 'monolithic' character of IEC and CENELEC made it relatively easy to appoint industry representatives to leading positions. They not only steered the programme of standardisation activities, but also steered the organisation. This is less feasible in ISO and CEN. Why should companies or even trade associations allocate substantial human capacity to organisations that work for the benefit of business and society as a whole? Stakeholders in separate technical fields are responsible for the programme of technical activities (organisational level: Technical Committee), but the responsibility of strategy and management lies with NSB representatives: directors of these organisations or external affairs officers – 'bureaucrats' in the perception of several interviewees.

Maybe because the main reasons for standardisation in the electrotechnical field, safety and interoperability, are so obvious, technical education in this field tends to pay more attention to standards than in most other fields, and practitioners are more accustomed to the use of standards. This seems to lead to a more positive culture about standards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> CEN-CENELEC, 2014a.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> In 1926, the International Federation of the National Standardizing Associations (ISA) was founded. It focused on mechanical engineering. ISA was disbanded in 1942 because of the war. Then it was reorganised and received a new name, ISO, in 1946.

Meanwhile, two important changes can be observed. First, from a technical point of view, electrotechnology is no longer a separate field. Electrotechnical and mechanical engineering were integrated some decades ago, and later electrotechnology integrated with information and communication technology. Currently, this combination is integrated with all kinds of application areas, each with their own technical background, reaching from agriculture (e.g., robot systems for milking cows) to construction (e.g., electricitygenerating boilers using a Stirling motor), and from the textile industry (e.g., electronic systems for transfer of customer wishes to production machines to facilitate mass customisation) to healthcare (e.g., curing and caring at distance). The two standards bodies are having difficulty in keeping pace with this evolving technical integration. For example, CEN and CENELEC have each developed standards for valves, sometimes overlapping or even with contradicting requirements. At international level, it took time to integrate standards for televisions (consumer electronics) with those for PC monitors (IT).<sup>64</sup> The IEC used to be the main standardiser for lighting, but failed to take LED on board in a proper way. IEC TC 34 Lamps and related equipment prepares some standards for lamps and glow starters, but the main standards for LED-based lighting systems are made in The Connected Lighting Alliance.<sup>65</sup> This consortium develops open standards for 'smart lighting' to enable wireless connection between luminaries, lamps, dimmers/switches, sensors, remote controls, and internet gateways.

Second, the integration of technologies has resulted in new markets with new stakeholders. This may include stakeholders already participating in CEN committees. But a merger does not necessarily help.<sup>66</sup> A 'legacy structure' may hinder the development of standards in fields that converge.<sup>67</sup>

Another development is that a big share of the production of components and electrical products has moved to Asia, and increasingly research and development is being done in Asian countries as well. Some of the traditional producers have disappeared, while others have become global players. Liberalisation of energy markets also caused substantial changes in the stakeholder landscape. Both developments, together with the shrinking or dismantling of standardisation departments mentioned before, makes it more difficult to recruit staff for leading positions in CENELEC. The declining number of companies that still want to allocate capacity for such positions prefer to focus on the international level, thus IEC. Should 'bureaucrats' then take over? Then the 'industry-lead' argument against a merger also disappears.

From an electrotechnical perspective, an argument against a merger is CEN's financial dependency on the EU and EFTA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Simons & de Vries, 2002.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> http://www.theconnectedlightingalliance.org/home/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> A documented historical case concerns EN 10238 Automatically blast-cleaned and automatically prefabrication primed structural steel products. A lack of coordination of the responsible TC, ECISS TC 10 Structural steels - Grades and qualities with the TCs in charge of Paints and varnishes, Construction and Environment resulted in a standard that was blamed to be detrimental to the health and safety of people on the shop floor, unnecessarily detrimental to the environment, bad for the quality of the end product, and disadvantageous for certain stakeholders (Grünbauer, 1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Gauch & Blind, 2015.

|                 | CEN part (71%) <sup>68</sup> | CENELEC part (29%) <sup>69</sup> |
|-----------------|------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Membership fees | 60%                          | 81%                              |
| EC/EFTA         | 38%                          | 17%                              |
| Other           | 2%                           | 2%                               |

Table 1: Financing of CCMC in 2013

Money may bring influence. NC and industry interviewees feel that the EC has a lot of influence on CEN, but this is denied by EC administration interviewees – they are not satisfied with what the ESOs do. Nevertheless, to avoid the danger of dependency, the simple solution would be to stop accepting EU and EFTA funding. CENELEC is in a position to do so, but this would be much more difficult for CEN. However, also for CENELEC this is not easy because then NC contributions would have to increase or costs would have to decrease. The main source of income for many NCs is standards sales, which tend to be rather stable. An increase in expenditures is not feasible. For countries without a strong electrotechnical industry this would be impossible – they need a decrease, they cannot afford an increase.

In some aspects, IEC seems to function better than ISO. Productivity in IEC is higher and its financial figures are better. IEC seems to have relatively more 'self-developed' standards, whereas in the working groups in ISO, tend to start with a document already developed somewhere else due to a tightening of maximal standard development times. ISO's role is more in providing legitimacy to the document than in developing a standard from scratch themselves.<sup>70</sup> The differences make that CEN can rely less on ISO than CENELEC can rely on IEC, though this may differ considerably per technical field in ISO/CEN. In other words, there are good reasons why CEN has a high percentage of self-developed standards and why CENELEC rubberstamps IEC standards.

The European Commission has complained that the system of European standardisation is too slow. Here a distinction should be made in the speed of standards development and the 'speed' in running and improving or even innovating the organisation. At the technical side, there are indeed good reasons to speed up the process of standards development. Time to market and product life cycle have been reduced enormously, and standards development time has to keep pace. Development times in CEN and CENELEC have decreased from an average of six years in 2000 to four years in 2007 and 2.5 years in 2013.<sup>71</sup> This was mainly achieved by changing procedures and imposing stricter procedure applications. However, the process of achieving consensus takes time and this cannot always be planned. There is a tendency to pre-develop standards in, for instance, a consortium and use these as a starting document for the standardisation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> CEN, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> CENELEC, 2014a.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> ISO also seems to face difficulties in defining a proper strategy for the future. Its draft strategy document (ISO, 2014) ignores ISO's shrinking market share in the growing market for standardisation, it neglects the trend of integrated systems, it lacks any analysis, and it has the wrong answer to the external demand for faster standards development.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> CEN et al. 2014.

process. But then the added value of formal standardisation organisations is reduced to rubber stamping. The wish of the European Commission to further reduce the time for developing mandated standards by 50% then undermines the role of ESOs, and means that they will probably increasingly use documents developed by others.

A last difference between CEN and CENELEC is that industry representatives are more directly involved in governance issues as well as priority setting in CENELEC than in CEN. Apart from the differences in culture, there is a simple reason for this: CENELEC serves one sector whereas CEN serves many. However, this makes a merger unattractive for independent NCs that want to represent the electrotechnical stakeholders in their countries. A merger would mean that these stakeholders would have less managerial influence.

To conclude: although there are no technological or market reasons anymore to maintain separate organisations for electrotechnical standardisation, there are no strong arguments in favour either. Some duplication of efforts could be avoided, which would be more beneficial for common CEN/CENELEC member bodies rather than for the stakeholders they serve. In the perception of the electrotechnical interviewees, the integration so far (common committees, CCMC) has hindered rather than helped (see also the next section). There are several arguments against a merger and these are mainly from the perspective of the electrotechnical industry: if the smaller, but from their perspective better functioning organisation CENELEC were to merge with the bigger organisation CEN, they would have less influence and less service. Section 3.12 will present an important additional argument for this. Also given the experiences that the majority of mergers do not bring the intended benefits, it would not be wise to take this direction now. The situation could change in the future.

## 3.7 CCMC

L'histoire se répète. A study by Roland Berger in 2000 showed that CEN members preferred the CEN Management Centre (CMC) to focus on the management and facilitation of standards development, and to refrain from all activities that go beyond its core competencies.<sup>72</sup> However, the researchers advised otherwise: even in a scenario of a reduced number of standards to be developed, 'CMC should be more proactive towards the NSBs to identify services like marketing, info workshops, conferences and training that would better be performed centrally at European level (and develop the necessary skills).' And in Scenario 2, *Demand for value added services*, 'CMC should identify opportunities for European coordination of the new "value-added" products/services.'<sup>73</sup> A recent survey among the members of CEN and CENELEC<sup>74</sup> shows a similar picture: priority is given to activities that relate to 'normal work' and the lowest priority scores are for activities that relate to a more pro-active attitude of CCMC: those related to possible

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Roland Berger & Partners GmbH, 2000, p. 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Roland Berger & Partners GmbH, 2000, p. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> CCMC, 2014.

new fields of activity (research/innovation; 'anticipating (cross-)sectional interactions), and those related to external relations (European trade and regulatory dialogues; international technical cooperation; European partners). The interviewees' complaints about CCMC are not reflected in their satisfaction about CCMC's services. The overall satisfaction rate for 23 services is 74% and the average for the interviewed NCs is only slightly lower (70%). In general, the satisfaction of independent CEN members (67%) and independent CENELEC NCs (69%) is lower than common members' satisfaction (79%). So maybe the services as such are good, but does CCMC offer the right services?

An issue raised by industry representatives is that the European Commission sees CCMC as the representative of the industry, but that it is primarily the voice of CEN-CENELEC. CEN has more influence than CENELEC and thus the 'apparatchiks' (term used by one of the interviewees) have more influence than the industry representatives. CENELEC would like more industry influence and so there is a conflict. EC interviewees report that they receive conflicting information from CCMC and from industry representatives from individual companies or from industry associations, and that the input from industry representatives in CEN and CENELEC differs. Apparently there is a problem to articulate a common vision on matters related to standards and standardisation. This applies both to technical issues as well as to governance-related issues.

Interviewees state that the merger of secretariats should avoid duplication of efforts and thus lead to more efficiency. Indeed, CCMC figures show some cost reductions, but these do not lead to fee reductions for NCs due to the decrease in EU funding. Meanwhile, the number of documents from Brussels has increased and some measures, such as the choice of ICT systems, have worsened rather than improved the situation for both independent NCs and industry. The researcher's own experience in the CEN/CENELEC Joint Working Group on Education about Standardization confirms this perception and also suggests an explanation. CEN/CENELEC staff manage the activities as if it were a standardisation committee in which the participants have to do the real work and CCMC's role is to facilitate the meetings. However, the topic education deserves pro-active project management and, where necessary, some essential activities need to be outsourced. In the education field, the ISO Central Secretariat has done a much better job, without committees but with real accomplishments, whereas CCMC has failed to carry out activities approved by the CEN/CENELEC/ETSI Joint Presidents Group and instead has carried out some activities that were not included in the approved plans, such as distributing a questionnaire among members. These deviations from the approved plans were justified by referring to 'the members', although these were apparently not the members involved in the working group. Another experience of the researcher is related to the follow-up on his study on SME access to European Standardisation.<sup>75</sup> Rather than immediately implementing a subset from the toolbox of 58 recommendations to support SMEs, CCMC created groups so that their members could study the recommendations.

Sending a questionnaire to the members and creating these study groups illustrates an attitude of uncertainty avoidance, a fear of making mistakes by taking initiatives. The researcher observed a similar attitude towards the European Commission, in the case of

<sup>75</sup> de Vries et al, 2009.

the revision of the 'Vademecum'.<sup>76</sup> CEN and CENELEC members complained about this Vademecum and CCMC shared their concerns. However, during the workshop on this subject, CCMC proposed several detailed suggestions for improvement and their attitude was rather cooperative.<sup>77</sup> CCMC appears to feel strategically and financially pressurised from two sides, and tries to cope by pleasing both sides: the CEN/CENELEC members and the Commission. Uncertainty avoidance is one of the cultural dimensions distinguished by the sociologist Hofstede who compared cultures in different countries, initially by studying different IBM offices. He defines uncertainty avoidance as 'the degree to which the members of a society feel uncomfortable with uncertainty and ambiguity. The fundamental issue here is how a society deals with the fact that the future can never be known: should we try to control the future or just let it happen? Countries exhibiting strong UAI<sup>78</sup> maintain rigid codes of belief and behaviour and are intolerant of unorthodox behaviour and ideas.<sup>79</sup> Standards themselves are an instrument to be used to avoid uncertainty, so in this sense the rationale behind this cultural dimension is confirmed daily, although it is not necessarily the dimension needed to run the secretariat of major European standards bodies. In particular, in 'competition' with the more entrepreneurial consortia, this cultural dimension can hinder, and can confirm prejudices. Of course, CCMC should follow and support its members, and via these members industry and other stakeholders in the various countries, and it should cooperate with the European Commission, but a professional secretariat knows what its members and other major stakeholders need, and takes proactive steps to meet those needs. For instance, taking the education example, CCMC could have shown a proactive attitude to the members in the Joint Working Group on Education about Standardisation by exploring possibilities for funding the intended activities, or by arranging the development of an educative standardisation game. In ISO 9001 terms, this means: 'enhancing customer satisfaction'.80

The apparent culture of uncertainty avoidance may have hindered the synergy advantages of a common secretariat. Moreover, the CEN structure, with more 'bureaucrats' at strategic positions, confirms the uncertainty avoidance attitude at the cost of more dynamic and pro-active support preferred by the interviewees. However, this is not necessarily what other CENELEC members prefer. For them, having to deal with one common secretariat is much clearer and more convenient than having to deal with two secretariats.

CCMC has managed to reduce its costs over the years. This was an urgent priority due to the reduction of EU funding. However, does CCMC do the right work? Ironically, the reason for the cost reduction is that in the perception of the EU, CEN, CENELEC and their common secretariat are not effective in addressing current market needs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> <u>http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/european-standards/documents/vademecum/index\_en.htm</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> This observation is not supported by the EC. They see CCMC as opposing them rather than being cooperative.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Uncertainty Avoidance Index.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Hofstede et al, 2010; <u>http://geert-hofstede.com/dimensions.html</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> ISO, 2008. CCMC has an ISO 9001-based quality management system.

A last issue mentioned by many interviewees is that fact that CEN, CENELEC, and CCMC have a common secretary general. Although this may be a disadvantage, as appears from the examples, it could also help to align the three organisations in taking a pro-active stance. However the person in charge should be aware of the different roles he plays, and should to be replaced if there is a conflict of interest. This advantage of being able to align the organisation more easily and the additional advantage of paying only one salary instead of three should be balanced with the risk of giving most of the power to one person. In summary, in the perception of many interviewees, the current leadership is part of the problem rather than part of the solution, so it might be time for a personnel change. And, if indeed a cultural change of the organisation is needed, then the current CEO is, by definition, not the right person to lead this.

To conclude, the members of CEN and CENELEC seem to favour a secretariat that just gives proper administrative support, and this is what they get. In some cases, support to meet the wishes of CEN members conflicts with support for CENELEC. CCMC is discouraged to be pro-active and shows characteristics of uncertainty avoidance which further hinders it to be more pro-active. The current situation may be acceptable in terms of efficiency, but not in terms of effectiveness. CCMC is expected to hinder rather than support a process of renewal of CENELEC.

## 3.8 Second generation member countries

Electrotechnical standardisation is primarily an international activity. Therefore, we made an inventory of the involvement of European countries in IEC (instead of in CENELEC). Figure 2 shows that there are great differences in the number of participants in IEC committees per country.



Figure 2: Number of participants in IEC committees per country.

The number of participants is highly correlated to GDP.<sup>81</sup> This also leads to huge differences in the number of secretariats (see Figure 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Correlation 0.917, P-value 0.000.



Figure 3: Number of IEC TC secretariats per country

From the two figures above, we can see that some countries hardly contribute to the technical work in IEC, which means that CENELEC is of little interest to them. Most of these countries became CENELEC members when they joined the EU. Some may have felt forced to join because CENELEC (and CEN) membership was part of the compulsory package for all new EU member states. Of course, these countries apply electrotechnology, but they are 'standard takers', not 'standard makers'. It is therefore not surprising that they are reluctant to contribute to the governance of CENELEC. A complete merger with CEN would be better for them. Each country has an agricultural and a construction industry, and most have other important sectors as well, so CEN would be more relevant to them – as standards takers, but maybe also as standards makers. If CENELEC continues to exist, they might get the chance to refrain from participating in the TCs but also in organisational committees including the General Assembly. Of course, this then should also limit their decision rights to only those technical and governance-related boards, committees and other groups in which they would continue participation.

In his study on the IEC, Büthe<sup>82</sup> notes that governments were notably absent from the outset. At the first IEC meeting, only two countries sent governmental representatives.<sup>83</sup> This private character remained, but the countries that used to be part of or influenced by the former Soviet Union have a history of standardisation as an instrument of the state economy. Meanwhile this has changed, but elements of the culture in which the state has

<sup>82</sup> Büthe, 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> International Electrotechnical Commission, 1906.

more influence has remained: hierarchy is more pronounced and bureaucracy more common. NCs in such countries may appreciate rather than dislike the situation of European Commission influence and money, and have little problem with formal rather than pro-active support by CCMC, provided it is not too costly.

The challenge will thus be to find a solution that meets the needs of the big and the small countries, the forerunners and the laggards, and the countries somewhere in-between. A selection menu rather than one-size-fits-all solution is needed.

## 3.9 Red tape

Are standards really all necessary? For one laptop, 251 technical interoperability standards are needed.<sup>84</sup> These will be used partly by the Original Equipment Manufacturer and partly by the component suppliers, but each has the problem to select the relevant ones. At the common European level, there are many more standards now than any of the member countries had before. Who determines which standards are to be developed? Can industry sufficiently determine which standards they really need? Do standard bodies at the national and/or the European level push the development of standards too much? Does the EC give too many 'mandates' to develop standards and does industry have sufficient knowledge and power to protest against this? Industry is concerned about this flood of standards. Business Europe<sup>85</sup> states: 'The European Standardisation Organisations (ESOs) should be more critical in assessing the impact of new work items (...) Before accepting a new work item the market relevance for the main economic players must be demonstrated.<sup>86</sup> Reducing the number of standards to the necessary minimum should be a priority and helping users to trace relevant standards is important.<sup>87</sup> Some measures have been taken to improve the latter (e.g., putting abstracts and tables of contents of standards at a website) but it seems that reduction of the number of standards is not on the agenda.

The words 'red tape' and bureaucracy have a negative connotation, but standardisation processes require a well-structured process flow, supported by documents in a predescribed format. This is directly related to the principles of formal standardisation and should be seen as a strength. Of course, the processes, the documents and their formats, and the IT systems supporting these may be up for improvement. It is beyond the scope of this study to further delve into any details.

Governance-related processes also require documentation. Each of the many boards, committees, and working groups generates its own pile of documents. The interviewees

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Biddle et al., 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Association of 41 central industrial and employers' federations from 35 European countries. To nuance their comment: New work items are accepted only if a minimum number of countries is willing to participate in the work.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Business Europe 2009, p. 1, 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> de Vries et al., 2009; de Vries & van der Zwan, 2008; de Vries et al., 2008.

complain about the vast number of documents they receive. They may receive dozens of documents, with hundreds of pages for one meeting. It is very time-consuming to read or even scan these documents, and of course not everything is equally important. One of the industry interviewees stated: 'Per document, 3% is relevant.' In order to prepare a national position, the NCs have to send a subset of these documents to certain other people to get their feedback. Even for the biggest NCs, this is hardly doable. The merger of secretariats into CCMC has increased the burden both in terms of the number of documents and in terms of their character, which has become more 'political', due to the role of the EU.

The more committees, the more documents. Reducing the number of committees is an option, but the core issue is not about committees and documents but about priorities. What are the real issues? The strategic choices about technical contents should be the priority. However, these are not the main topics on the agenda, maybe due to the overwhelming number of other issues and to the number of standardisation requests from the European Commission.

In a 'lean' approach, activities that do not directly contribute to the main goal of the organisation are 'waste'. This main goal should be related to customers. In the case of standardisation, there are different stakeholders, both standard developers and standards takers. National standardisation bodies (NSBs) are primarily responsible for the core processes related to developing user-friendly standards where these are needed. The core task of these national bodies is to enable a variety of stakeholders to give their input and develop standards that give the optimal compromise between the differences at stake. For the standards-takers, processes should also stop the continuing increase in the number of standards and should aim at reducing them to the necessary minimum.

This increase in the number of documents is also caused by the increased complexity of the business environment, and this is unavoidable. But does CCMC really need more than 1000 bilateral agreements? Should all issues be solved in committees? Probably not.

## 3.10 Business models

Chesbrough & Rosenbloom propose a business model is the specific way by which a business creates value and then to capture at least some of that value for the organisation. They specify six functions of a business model: to articulate a value proposition, to identify a market segment, to define the structure of a firm's value chain, to specify the revenue mechanism(s), to describe the position of the firm within the value network or ecosystem, and to formulate the competitive strategy.<sup>88</sup> Or even shorter: A business model 'describes the rationale of how an organization creates, delivers and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Chesbrough & Rosenbloom, 2002.

captures value.<sup>'89</sup> The core term is value proposition – what does the organisation deliver to its customers? Assessing this value proposition for CENELEC (and CEN) could be the starting point for improvements. Both CEN and CENELEC have established a working group to do this, and the outcome of these discussions could be important.

## 3.11 Stakeholder involvement

As mentioned in Section 3.1, electrotechnical standardisation used to have a rather clear set of stakeholders. This is changing, and now the stakeholder map differs per topic, and the diversity and the number of stakeholders is increasing and sometimes even huge, particularly in the case of standards for integrated systems. Involving these stakeholders is primarily a national issue, but also gives challenges at the European level. Balanced stakeholder representation is needed for (CEN and) CENELEC's 'license to operate' in developing standards that relate to legislation or, in a broader sense, mandates. This, in turn, may have major consequences for NCs. CEN and CENELEC and all their members therefore should aim to facilitate stakeholder involvement at national level. Currently, the EC is dissatisfied about the involvement of 'weak' stakeholders via the national level and therefore they intend to further strengthen the role of (EU-funded) Annex III organisations. This affects CEN and CENELEC's country model. EC representatives do not share the concerns of other interviewees' that these organisations cannot be independent because they are funded by the European Commission. Practice shows examples of Annex III organisations that feel free to oppose EC positions.<sup>90</sup>

CENELEC became a "legitimate" standard setter when there was no competition from other standards setters<sup>91</sup>, and its legitimacy was strengthened by its relation to the IEC and the NCs. This legitimacy was officially confirmed due to its legal status, and reconfirmed in 2012.<sup>92</sup> However, due to its continued inability to take a sufficient number and variety of stakeholders on board, both at the national and at the European level, this legitimacy is at stake in the perception of the European Commission. Meanwhile, industry no longer takes formal standards bodies as their default choice, as can be seen from the increasing number of consortia. So the core question for CENELEC (as well as CEN and ETSI, and the formal standardisation organisations at the international and national level) is: how can we continue to be relevant or, even better, how can we become more attractive for all stakeholders as the self-evident source of standards and the platform to develop these standards?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Osterwalder et al., 2005, p.17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Reihlen (1996) stated that these organisations may play an important role in motivating the rank and file of their party to participate in European standardisation. However, they lack a process of consensus building to back their position in standardisation committees and this disqualifies them for playing this role.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Büthe, 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> European Parliament and Council, 2012.

## 3.12 Strategic change

During the years, organisations follow a sequence of changes in strategy. Hardjono studied such changes, <sup>93</sup> and his findings may be informative to better understand CENELEC's current situation, and the options for change.

<u>Phase 1: Creativity.</u> Any organisation results from an initiative, so the first stage requires creativity. The organisation then combines an orientation on change and an orientation on the outside world. In the case of CENELEC, this phase took a long time. The first creative idea was to informally coordinate and stimulate the implementation of IEC standards in European countries, for the benefit of industry. Then, the next creative step was to give this a boost by 1) developing European standards, preferably fully aligned with IEC standards, 2) implementing these in the national standards systems, and 3) withdrawing conflicting national standards. The last creative idea was the New Approach, which harmonises safety regulations between EU member states and relates common voluntary standards to legislation.

<u>Phase 2: Effectiveness.</u> These ideas then need to be put into practice and not immediately be replaced by other ideas, so that the external orientation remains but the orientation towards change is replaced by an orientation on control. External and internal are dichotomies, these cannot be applied at the same moment.<sup>94</sup> Effectiveness results from a combination of external and control orientation. CENELEC, indeed, brought these ideas into practice and CEN did a similar job. They developed a relevant set of European standards. CENELEC mainly rubberstamped IEC standards and standards related to New Approach directives, and this was an important cornerstone for the Single European market so CENELEC and CEN were really effective.

<u>Phase 3: Efficiency.</u> Once Effectiveness has been achieved, the activities become 'business as usual' and the organisation can shift to a next phase, Efficiency. This phase combines control with internal orientation. Again there is a dichotomy: internal and external orientation cannot be combined. CENELEC (and CEN) are currently in this phase. Standards are being developed, new work items are put on the agenda, mainly stemming from the IEC or the European Commission, and serious attempts are being made to create an even more efficient organisation, also by integrating CENELEC with CEN.

<u>Phase 4: Flexibility.</u> The attention on efficiency leads to awareness of the internal strength of an organisation, which forms the basis for a new strategy focused on flexibility. Flexibility combines an internal orientation and an orientation on change. The introduction of 'New deliverables' might be seen as an element of flexibility, but here CENELEC (and CEN) made the wrong choice: instead of improving their own processes, e.g. by professionalising the way standardisation is being supported, they jumped to a combination of external orientation and change, thus for this part again Phase 1, but not in an innovative way. The new deliverables are rather weak copies of services offered by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Hardjono, 1997.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Here Hardjono builds on Quin and Rohrbaugh, 1983.

'competitors' (industry consortia) and, even worse, these partly violate own principles. CENELEC (and CEN) should have improved their own processes while sticking to these principles.<sup>95</sup> According to Hardjono, flexibility, in turn, leads to a strategy of change and is a solid basis for a new focus on creativity and innovation –going back to Phase 1.



#### The two dichotomies in the Four-Phase Model

Figure 2: Four Phases Model (simplified).96

<u>Bureaucracy.</u> CEN and CENELEC did not move to this next phase of Flexibility and added a small element of Phase 1 which soon also became business as usual and then they stayed in the Efficiency phase for two decades. According to Hardjono, staying too long in one Phase may turn positive characteristics into negative ones. In the case of staying in the Efficiency phase, the positive characteristics of control can then turn into 'rigidity' and the positive characteristics of internal orientation may lead to 'inertia'. This combination results in bureaucracy, the opposite of efficiency. Unfortunately, this is exactly what CENELEC and CEN experience now. This explains the current efforts to enhance efficiency, by better integrating the two organisations to avoid duplication of activities. This seems reasonable, but Hardjono argues that to escape from the 'iron cage of bureaucracy' the solution is not to focus more on efficiency, but to move to the next

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> de Vries, 1999.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Based on Hardjono, 1997.

phase, Flexibility. However, he argues that external circumstances may make it necessary to set another step than just to move to the next phase. This seems to be the case. Probably CENELEC needs to move in the opposite direction. Due to its internal orientation, the organisation was insufficiently aware of changes in its external environment. These include:

- Integration of technical areas that used to be separated.
- Integration of markets that used to be distinct.
- Extension of standards for products and services with standards for processes, software, services and management systems, and the consequences for the contents of standards (also non-technical).
- Broadening of the purpose of standardisation: from technical to (also) commercial to (also) societal.
- Extension of categories of interested people: from mainly engineers, researchers and business people to more stakeholders, including societal stakeholders.
- Extension of markets: first from national to global, then also European. Now a counter-movement with a re-discovery of national and even local levels for which standards may also be relevant.
- Shift of power in international business and thus also in international standardisation from North America, Europe and Japan, to other Asian countries and, to a smaller extent, to other regions in the world.
- Shift from a technical to a business paradigm in standards setting: less emphasis on sound technical solutions and scientific underpinning, and more emphasis on standards as a result of a power-play between stakeholders ("affected by negotiation" or "commercially pushed").
- Less emphasis on due process including consensus-based decision-making, and more emphasis on standards resulting from competition in the market.

These trends can be summarised in one word: complexity. The environment for electrotechnical standardisation is becoming increasingly complex and this has consequences for CENELEC. Therefore, a renewed external orientation is needed. The organisation should move from an internal towards an external orientation while – for the time being – maintaining a focus on control. A complete shift towards Creativity would not be feasible immediately. The combination of external and control orientation will result in Effectiveness and diminish bureaucracy, as a 'side effect' instead of as a purpose in itself. Because of the dichotomy between internal and external orientation, it is not feasible to combine Effectiveness and Efficiency. Continuing to focus on Efficiency by further integrating CEN and CENELEC will make the situation worse instead of better. It will hinder an external orientation and increase rather than diminish bureaucracy because it focuses on activities of internal employees rather than on current and future customers.

<u>Alignment with EU phases.</u> Beusman and Hardjono applied the same model to the development of the European Union<sup>97</sup> and it is interesting to see how the development of European standardisation relates to this and to the challenges the EU currently faces. The phase of establishing the EU was the Creativity phase. The wish not to engage in war again and to cooperate and become interdependent was a strong motivator. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Beusman & Hardjono, 2015.

predecessors of CEN and CENELEC started at this time. In the next EU phase, Effectiveness, these ideals were put into practice by creating a society of peace, safety and prosperity. Having a single market without barriers to trade was seen as supportive and because deviating standards per country hinder such a common market whilecommon standrads help, the standards bodies could have made the same step: to create standards for this common market, but they failed to do so. Their Creativity phase continued but actually without much creativity: they focused on the national and international level without paying too much attention to Europe. The Maastricht Treaty in 1992 marked the shift of the EU to the phase of Efficiency. Organisations needed standards, and then the standards bodies started their Effectiveness phase by initiating a huge amount of European standardisation activities. Their subsequent move towards Efficiency was rather gradual. The European Union was successful in creating the single market and in expanding with many new members, but lost attention for the original ideas and neglected the social system, which also should have led to self-reflection. This prevented them from moving on to the next phase of Flexibility, and instead they stayed in the Efficiency phase for too long which led to bureaucracy. This situation is similar to what happened to CEN and CENELEC, as described above. The legislation on standardisation<sup>98</sup> and the Vademecum<sup>99</sup> are examples of this 'iron cage of bureaucracy.' Beusman and Hardjono<sup>100</sup> show four options for the EU. The first is inertia, i.e., doing nothing. This is likely to lead to economic decline and to increase the tensions between North and South and also between France and Germany. The second option, doing less but doing it more effectively, as proposed by the UK, will probably lead to similar effects. The third option is to repair what was neglected in the Efficiency phase by moving to a political union next to the monetary union and giving the EU more autonomy. The fourth option is to move to a new phase of Creativity in which diversity should be seen as a strength rather than a weakness and in which soft power is used. Beusman and Hardjono prefer the last option. Disentanglement of EU and European standardisation would support this - it is beneficial for both the EU and for European standardisation.

## 3.13 Conclusion

In this Chapter, we have examined the root causes of the problems mentioned in Chapter 2. The aim of the independent NCs is to serve industry in their country better. However, this is hindered by the way standardisation is organised, by the relationship between CENELEC and CEN and their common secretariat CCMC, and by the European Commission. This may affect industry leadership in CENELEC, but this leadership is also affected by developments within the industry such as the diminishing number of standardisation departments and experts in combination with the increasing complexity related to systems in which electrotechnology is integrated with ICT, and with other technical fields and services. CENELEC's close alignment with the international level is a strength, but specific European interests also play an important role, particularly in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> European Parliament and Council, 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> European Commission, 2014b.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Beusman & Hardjono, 2015.

relation to complex systems. National and even local levels are also relevant for such systems. The success story of European standardisation could turn a new page by leaping at the opportunities of these new fields of standardisation. However, this is currently out of focus because CENELEC is becoming increasingly bureaucratic, which is worsened by European Commission interference, and its lack of respect for the private character of the ESOs. Counterintuitively, further integration with CEN appears to hinder rather than help electrotechnical standardisation, and the functioning of CCMC also hinders a move towards better market relevance. CENELEC's next strategic move should be to enhance effectiveness.

## 4 Discussion

Before presenting three scenarios for the governance of electrotechnical standardisation in Europe, this chapter first discusses a starting point for these scenarios: the contribution electrotechnical standardisation can give to welfare in Europe. The final section provides a conclusion.

## 4.1 Back to the roots of private standardisation in Europe

The EU and its predecessors were founded in order to build a new Europe without war. This should be achieved by making countries dependent on each other in an economic sense. For Robert Schuman, one of the founding fathers, it was more than just that. Ideals such as freedom, equality, solidarity, community, diversity, peace and reconciliation played an important role in striving for European unification.<sup>101</sup> Meanwhile, the EU has been established, Western and Central Europe are no longer at war, all EU member states have democracy, and the single market has brought prosperity. However, currently, the EU is in crisis. Citizens increasingly show resistance against the on-going unification, against the EU moving towards the 'United States of Europe'. The EU administration has turned into a bureaucracy. The introduction of a common currency in unequal economies has affected these economies, first in the South, but also in the North, and has created tensions between member states. A combination of a financial and a political crisis may lead to an economic crisis and these subsequently re-enforce each other. In this changing political landscape, the role of standardisation and its governance may have to change as well. First by being able to continue in the case of a collapse of the EU, by becoming more independent. Second, by linking to the increased attention for 'differ-integration' in the EU. More than half of EU policies are implemented in different ways<sup>102</sup>, whereas the European standardisation system is much more homogeneous. The huge differences between CENELEC NCs suggest that more differentiation may be needed. In the EU, Greece and the UK are cases of differentiated disintegration. This might be an option in standardisation as well.

Standardisation in Europe has much older roots, going back to the guilds in the Middle Ages. It is consensus-based – stakeholders meet in committees to agree on common standards, in contrast to the more 'market-based' approach in the USA (a battle between competing solutions should lead to a de-facto standard) or the governmental approach in China.<sup>103</sup> In this sense, the international standardisation in ISO and IEC fits better in the European culture, and of course this applies to CEN, CENELEC and ETSI as well. The consensus-based standardisation relates to the 'Rhinelandic' model of business in which the main purpose of companies is not short-term benefits but longer term survival and prosperity for the company itself, but also for other stakeholders, in contrast to the short-term Anglo-Saxon model. Meanwhile, globalisation has created a new situation:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Luitwieler, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Leruth & Lord, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Meyer, 2013.

companies operate at a global scale. They need standards and are confronted with different standardisation cultures and systems. They tend to switch in a pragmatic way between the different modes of standardisation. Meyer argues that these different systems should not be seen as competitors – each system has distinct competitive advantages. Rather than competing against other systems, the regions should innovate their own systems.<sup>104</sup>

Standards bodies should therefore not simply stick to the system they developed almost a century ago, but modify it to honour three major changes. First, the societal importance of standardisation has become much more prominent, which means an increased awareness of the in stakes involved (e.g., environmental issues) and related stakeholders (e.g., environmental pressure groups). Second, time to market and product life cycles have been shortened and intellectual property rights have become more important. And third, technologies, processes, products and services are increasingly interrelated and combined in complex systems. Standards are of utmost important to provide the interfaces within and between such systems, but it is more and more difficult for individual players to take the lead in the necessary standardisation trajectories.

Remarkably, the system of European standardisation has incorporated elements of the American and the Chinese system which undermine its own strengths. The CEN-CENELEC Workshop Agreements undermine the basic principles such as the country model, openness, consensus, transparency and coherence.<sup>105</sup> The situation in Europe increasingly mirrors characteristics of the Chinese system - the European 'state' has enormous influence. In the positive sense, this may be called a Public Private Partnership: 'Voluntary and collaborative relationships between various parties, both State and non-State, in which all participants agree together to achieve common purpose or undertake a specific task and to share risks and responsibilities, resources and benefits'.<sup>106</sup> Although EU officials say that they see themselves next to, rather than 'above' the standards bodies, practice is partly different. This undermines the system of voluntary standardisation. A third development undermining standardisation is bureaucracy. Although formal procedures and related documents are inherent to the process and even a strength of it, the same is applied at the governance level as well. Dozens of committees and working groups have many meetings, address all kinds of issues and hundreds of documents are related to this. The issues are not fully irrelevant. On the contrary, but the time spent on them distracts attention from a real strategic agenda and innovation of the system. CENELEC's standardisation agenda is determined by the IEC and the European Commission. Both for good reasons, but this has resulted in a very passive CENELEC. Combined with bureaucracy, this leads to a downward spiral, with CENELEC becoming irrelevant. Moreover, because of the EU crisis, CENELEC's 'partnership' with the EU may turn out to be unreliable. Rather than being connected to EU bureaucracy and thus being perceived as part of the European problem, it would be better for CENELEC go back to its private roots in order to be part of the solution to European problems by being proactive. As appears from Section 3.12, this requires an orientation of Effectiveness,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Meyer, 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> de Vries, 1999,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> UN General Assembly, 2005.

However, the answers to the CCMC survey and the interviews indicate that the NCs prefer to focus on alignment with the IEC and advocate a more passive role for CENELEC. This scenario will be examined in the next section. Section 4.3 describes a scenario with a more proactive European role. In both scenarios, there are dilemmas about the rate of integration with CEN, the role of CCMC, and the governance of CENELEC. These two scenarios have been discussed in a focus group consisting of the CEOs of the NCs participating in this project plus Belgium. They decided to examine a third scenario, which mitigates the disadvantages of Scenario A and then moves in the direction of Scenario B. Scenario C is presented in Section 4.4.

## 4.2 Scenario A: Follow the IEC

#### 4.2.1 The scenario

In this scenario, CENELEC's purpose could be defined as: develop, approve and disseminate trustworthy and sound standards in the field of electrotechnology, relevant for European stakeholders. CENELEC primarily adopts and disseminates standards developed at the international level by the IEC. It only deviates from these or develops additional European standards in exceptional cases.<sup>107</sup>

European industry and other stakeholders participate in the IEC through national committees. CENELEC maintains its structure of TCs parallel to IEC TCs, and their main task is to adopt IEC standards in the European system, preferably unchanged and only in exceptional cases with deviations. Safety standards, referred to in the New Approach directives are, as far as possible, revised or developed at the international level and aligned with standards elsewhere in the world. Differences in legal systems and safety levels required in these systems may give a need for deviations per region and in these cases, the EN version may provide the European version of the international standard.

In this scenario, CENELEC no longer honours EU standardisation requests: the default answer to these requests is 'no'. Only in exceptional cases are European standards developed additional to IEC standards. If the EU brings topics to the agenda that have not yet been addressed in the IEC, these are proposed for inclusion in the IEC programme. Given the number of European countries active in IEC, this should not be a problem, but topics will only be accepted if industry and other stakeholders agree.

Continuing as a separate organisation does not imply that CEN and CENELEC cannot have a common secretariat. For reasons of synergy, alignment, effectiveness and efficiency, a common secretariat seems to be the better solution. However, CCMC's current working model leads to unnecessarily heavy workload. The secretariat, but also CEN and CENELEC themselves, currently tend to solve problems 'in a standardisation way' by creating committees. This should be stopped and committees working on these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> This purpose formulation is more condensed than the one laid down in the Articles of Association and in the proposals by the CENELEC Working Group Purpose.

issues should be dissolved. Even in this 'low profile' scenario, CCMC should be more proactive and entrepreneurial and do work that is currently done in governance-related committees. This cultural change is challenging and might be a main reason for CENELEC to find another secretariat. A second reason for the current workload is that CCMC links European standardisation to the EU too strongly, because it also serves CEN and because of its financial dependency on the EC. This brings additional and partly unnecessary topics to the agenda of NCs and leads to more 'political' issues instead of more technical issues on this agenda. The secretariat should focus on 'normal' support for technical work and be very selective in sending other documents, CCMC should rather handle them themselves. Because the role of CENELEC is rather limited in this scenario, an alternative would be to move the secretariat to the Belgian member body BEC, where it was in the past. CENELEC members would no longer be hindered by CEN preferences. Another option is to create two business units - one for CEN and one for CENELEC. In this case, CENELEC could express its wishes and in the case of extreme dissatisfaction move to another secretariat provider or create its own office. Such a solution seems to be more feasible than CENELEC's departure, which a majority of NCs would probably not support. Actually, this is more or less the current situation in CCMC. CENELEC fails to express what they want from CCMC and when they do, they do not always get what they want. If the secretariat stays at CCMC, it will have to undergo a major change- rather than preparing meetings, making minutes and distributing documents, CCMC will have to develop proposals themselves.

#### 4.2.2 Answers to the research questions

We now answer the research questions for this scenario:

1. How can formal standardisation be organised in such a way that it enables industry to have optimal impact with minimal efforts, without compromising reasonable participation and influence by other stakeholder groups such as Government/Legislator?

On the technical side, minimal efforts for industry can be achieved if the delegates in CENELEC TCs and those in IEC TCs are the same. They then just put on the CENELEC 'hat' and achieve consensus about the European adoption of an IEC standard or, in exceptional cases, a European variant. The CENELEC TCs do not need to have separate meetings, and all activities can be done in conjunction with IEC meetings or – even better – at distance. Of course, the national mirror committees would be identical as well and parallel voting can be applied. A CENELEC TC would need to have a separate meeting or perhaps an additional TC is needed, only if special European circumstances require the development of a separate European standard. Then other European stakeholders can also participate.

In this scenario, the CENELEC TCs monitor IEC developments, and if there is no TC, the CENELEC Technical Board (BT) decides what to do. The applicable TC will have to operate within the framework of the general CENELEC policy.

The CENELEC Administrative Board (CA) prepares strategic decisions and takes care of all daily issues. CCMC prepares all issues that are currently done in the working groups, the CA takes the final decisions, and the working groups are dissolved.

The CENELEC GA is organised in conjunction with the IEC GA to avoid unnecessary traveling, and because the main policymakers from industry are assumed to attend the general assembly. In the case there are no major policy issues, the meeting is cancelled. Other decision-making is by correspondence.

CCMC is very selective in sending documents to CENELEC NCs. This policy is fine-tuned between BT and CCMC. Moreover, each document should be related to one or more categories and NCs can choose not to receive any documents about certain categories (e.g., nothing about education).

2. Does CENELEC have any added value as a separate European standardisation organisation next to CEN and ETSI?

For historical reasons (installed base of standards, pattern of current cooperation) but also because of the current differences between IEC and ISO, CEN cannot have a similar strategy as the one described above. It would probably be wiser if CENELEC did not further integrate or even merge with CEN. Further integration would bring other people in the leading positions: from other industries and/or from a majority of non-electrotechnical national standards bodies, or even worse, people that lack affinity with 'real' standardisation work. They will not necessarily agree to have a different strategy for electrotechnical standards. Under CEN dominance, the chances of achieving substantial changes in CCMC and more distance from the European Commission are also lower. Annd, last but not least, integration would be a focus on efficiency that would mhinder effectiveness. Thus a separate CENELEC aligned with IEC is needed to ensure market-driven electrotechnical standardisation in Europe. The main added value of CENELEC in this scenario is to ensure that the IEC standards are implemented in the national standards systems of all member countries which should benefit the electrotechnical industry and help to have a common European market without barriers to trade.

3. How can it be ensured that industry defines market relevance of standardisation projects?

The main decisions about market relevance are made in the IEC, and European stakeholders can participate at that level via their NC. It is assumed that the standards developed in the IEC are relevant in Europe as well. European deviations or additional standards are only developed in exceptional cases. These could be included as options in the IEC standards, next to options preferred in other parts of the world, in order to increase transparency to standards users. NCs should encourage stakeholder participation in their country.

#### 4.2.3 Strengths and weaknesses of scenario A

Main strengths:

- Companies and other stakeholders get common European electrotechnical standards optimally aligned with IEC standards for minimal efforts (incl. traveling, IT systems).
- Substantial reduction of administrative work for NCs.
- No dependency on the EU.

Weaknesses:

- No real answer to the trends mentioned in Chapter 1.
- More dependency on IEC implies that CENELEC has little 'own' added value.
- CENELEC ignores European political priorities and approved policies realistic or ostrich attitude?
- The 'default no' to mandates causes a problem for the EU. If CENELEC refuses standardisation requests, the EU will turn to CEN and CEN will have to involve its members, in some countries excluding CENELEC members.
- No change in the weak involvement of societal stakeholders.
- No improvement in time to market (however, if the role is mainly rubber-stamping, this is no problem).

# 4.3 Scenario B: Steer the development and dissemination of electrotechnical standards in Europe

#### 4.3.1 The scenario

In this scenario, CENELEC's purpose could be defined as: develop, approve and disseminate trustworthy and sound standards in the field of electrotechnology, relevant for European stakeholders. CENELEC primarily adopts and disseminates standards developed at the international level by the IEC and develops additional European standards to meet European priorities if necessary.

The international level is by far the most relevant level for electrotechnical products. However, the European, national and even local levels are relevant as well for installations, grids and integrated systems. Then simply relying on IEC standards is not an option. In many cases, electrotechnology is interwoven with ICT and a variety of application areas so standardisation activities in CENELEC, ETSI and CEN need to be closely aligned, and common architectures are needed in system technologies. After such an architecture has been developed, an assessment is made about which standards are needed, which ones already exist, and to what extent these need to developed. A stakeholder analysis should reveal which business and non-business stakeholders apply, in which countries, which stakes they have, and which standardisation organisations are best equipped to develop the necessary standards. This may include formal standards bodies at the international, European and national levels, and consortia which then may 'feed' them. However, for legitimacy reasons, the preferred solution is that the formal bodies such as ISO, IEC and ITU develop the standards. In this scenario, CENELEC takes the lead in initiating European discussions about systems, partly following IEC and partly initiating new fields. These preferably come from industry, but also stem from European research projects. CENELEC actively stimulates that standardisation becomes fully integrated in the European research agenda. It maintains a partnership relation with the European Commission. 'Mandates', if any, stem from CENELEC rather than from the European Commission.

This scenario requires knowledgeable people, particularly in the roles of convenors and secretaries. Developing systems-related sets of standards requires people that can combine in-depth standardisation knowledge with the ability to understand business and societal needs. They need to know how standards can be used to meet these needs, create opportunities and solve problems. Besides designing the standards, they need to manage the standardisation process and to maintain relations with all relevant stakeholders. Knowledgeable convenors and secretariats also know how to reduce throughput time<sup>108</sup> and how to involve societal stakeholders.<sup>109</sup>

This pro-active role of CENELEC requires a knowledgeable and pro-active secretariat – a role that cannot be played by CCMC in its current shape and culture. If CEN does not take similar steps, then it is not feasible to continue with a common secretariat. Joining forces with ETSI is one option (the disadvantage of the distance may turn into an advantage because it helps to create 'distance' from the European Commission). For industry, the question is whether they are willing to allocate high-level experts to CENELEC or to IEC or whether they prefer to establish a consortium, to invite their preferred stakeholders to join and, in this way, be more influential.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Unfortunately, the current rigid throughput time requirements show a lack of understanding of the standardisation process by the EU but also by standards bodies and industry representatives. The main source of delay is the time between subsequent meetings when little activity takes place. Already 30 years ago, the author managed to have standards ready in 20% of the normal time without any procedural change. The 'secret' was to get consensus about the process, including who should do what and when, before getting consensus about the technical contents of the standard. So target dates were set but no strict deadlines because exceptions could be needed. At that time, the researcher was secretary to several standardisation committees, and used a two-week planning schedule. Standardisation combines a design process (the standard has to be designed) with a decision-making process. Designing can be done by one or a few people, but all stakeholders need to be involved in the decision-making process. Rather than 'jumping to a design', it makes sense to first agree on functional requirements, then have a creative session to explore in which ways these functional requirements can be fulfilled, next, select one way, and then start the real design. Being the committee secretary, the researcher then 'managed' the project (not officially because this is up to the convener) by maintaining the relations with the participants, other external stakeholders and the internal organisation (the latter e.g. for ensuring consistency with standards in adjacent areas, for making technical drawings and for a language check). This needs to be combined with designing a (modular) architecture of standards in relation to an architecture of technology, and in relation to the stakeholders and their stakes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Current efforts to enhance their involvement focus on increasing participation at the national or European level. The problem is that a set of barriers hinders this participation. The solution is to have a stakeholder analysis per project. This will reveal whether the issue is relevant for societal stakeholders and what their stake are. The committee then may be asked to make explicit how they addressed these stakes – also in case the applicable association cannot participate.

#### 4.3.2 Answers to the research questions

We now answer the research questions for this scenario:

1. How can formal standardisation be organised in such a way that it enables industry to have optimal impact with minimal efforts, without compromising reasonable participation and influence by other stakeholder groups such as Government/Legislator?

This scenario requires a pro-active approach from industry. In addition to Scenario A, industry and other stakeholders should be involved in exploring new areas for standardisation. This requires people with the right knowledge and skills. Once potential standardisation topics have been defined, the secretariat and the stakeholders should carry out a feasibility study and a stakeholder analysis for each potential new area of standardisation. Next, an architecture of standards needs to be designed which includes functional requirements for each of the standards, and finally a proposal must be approved about which standards bodies could develop these standards. This is a major task for the secretariat. Next, 'normal' standards development can start – parly in CENELEC, partly in other standardisation organisations.

In this scenario, in addition to the organisation structure mentioned above, a much more active and professional secretariat and more stakeholder involvement at various stages is needed. CENELEC TB and CENELEC Administrative Board will play a more active role. CENELEC might consider the model the IEC uses for its Standardization Management Board to limit NCs' workload in the CENELEC BT. Six of its 15 seats are reserved for member bodies that make the largest contribution measured in terms of the number of secretariats and membership fees. The remaining seats are filled for a three-year term through elections in the assembly of member body presidents, the IEC Council, to ensure a balanced geographical distribution.<sup>110</sup>

The new pro-active way of working will require more NC involvement. Also in this scenario, most of the current working groups can be cancelled. Because of the increase of CENELEC work, more documents will have to be handled. If NCs are interested in a new area, they will have to mobilise national stakeholders and in some cases they can choose to develop additional national standards or support the development of local standards. But they can also choose not to join.

Because the work done by CENELEC is less exclusively linked to IEC work, the CENELEC GA should not be organised in conjunction with the IEC GA. An option is to organise it in conjunction with CEN or ETSI GA.

2. Does CENELEC have any added value as a separate European standardisation organisation next to CEN and ETSI?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Büthe, 2010.

For historical reasons (installed base of standards, pattern of current cooperation) but also because of the current differences between IEC and ISO, CEN cannot have a similar strategy as the one described above. It would probably be wiser if CENELEC did not further integrate or even merge with CEN. Further integration would bring other people in the leading positions: from other industries and/or from a majority of non-electrotechnical national standards bodies, or even worse, people that lack affinity with 'real' standardisation work. They will not necessarily agree to have a different strategy for electrotechnical standards. Under CEN dominance, the chances of achieving substantial changes in CCMC and more distance from the European Commission are also lower. And, last but not least, integration would be a focus on efficiency that would hinder effectiveness.

3. How can it be ensured that industry defines market relevance of standardisation projects?

As in Scenario A, the main decisions about market relevance are made in the IEC, and European stakeholders can participate at that level via their NC. It is assumed that the standards developed in the IEC are relevant in Europe as well. Additionally, they can participate in European projects – not only for standards development but also strategic studies about an architecture of standards. They may even carry out such studies themselves. They should accept and even support that societal stakeholders get involved as well.

## 4.3.3 Strengths and weaknesses of scenario B

Main strengths:

- CENELEC is better prepared to respond to the trends mentioned.
- Private stakeholders can continue to solve European problems and strengthen business and society via CENELEC even if the EU were to fall apart.
- CENELEC gets a prominent role in the support of European political priorities and approved policies.
- Alignment with international standardization (IEC).
- Where needed, Europe is prepared to take the lead in IEC.
- CENELEC strengthens its 'own' added value.
- CENELEC is a well-respected partner. EU 'mandates', if any, result from real cooperation, and are not 'imposed'.

Weaknesses:

- NCs that currently have limited involvement in IEC's and CENELEC's activities are probably not ready to accept a potentially substantial increase in technical work.
- First feedback suggests that NCs in countries with more active electrotechnical industry are also not prepared to play such a role.
- Lack of knowledge and skills, both in companies and in NCs, to be able take the lead in designing coherent sets of sophisticated systems-related standards.

## 4.4 Scenario C: Moving from IEC follower to a more pro-active European role

Scenario C starts with Scenario A, with some small changes to tackle the main weaknesses, and then provides the opportunity to move in the direction of Scenario B, also with some slight modifications. In this sense, it can be seen as a 'growth scenario'.

In this scenario, CENELEC's purpose would be similar to Scenario B: develop, approve and disseminate trustworthy and sound standards in the field of electrotechnology, relevant for stakeholders in Europe. CENELEC primarily adopts and disseminates standards developed at the international level by the IEC and develops additional European standards if needed to meet European priorities.

Main modifications to Scenario A:

- Mandates: 'no' as the default option but if the EU wishes standardisation in a certain field, create a group to discuss this, develop a proposal in co-operation with the EU, and let the members decide.
- CCMC: Redefine its role and responsibilities. Activities should include carrying out strategic studies to explore new fields. Develop a service level agreement including key performance indicators. Improvements should be visible within a year, otherwise a new secretariat should be found.

Preparations for a shift in the direction of Scenario B:

- Identify European research programmes that focus on electrotechnology and examine whether there is a need to develop new IEC and/or CENELEC standards (hire research capacity to prepare this and educate CCMC staff to be prepared to do this in future). BT decides if new activities are needed and, if so, in IEC or in CENELEC.
- Explore whether European variants of the IEC systems projects are needed.
- Conduct a pilot study with a systems-oriented standardisation project in which electrotechnology is important (e.g. future electricity supply in Europe).

Recently, common CEN/CENELEC member bodies have proposed further integration of the two organisations. As mentioned in Section 3.6 and 3.12, the less obvious disadvantages seem to outweigh the obvious advantages. In any case, no matter which scenario CENELEC prefers, A, B or C, major changes are needed. If these two main decision making bodies are integrated, it will be more difficult to make these changes, including the option to dismantle CCMC. Only in the case of the zero option, i.e., changing nothing, could integration make sense from the perspective of some efficiency benefits for the staff of common members. It would confirm the common trend of further marginalisation of European standardisation, to the detriment of European business and society. However, if CEN were to take a similar – but not identical! – upgrade direction as proposed for CENELEC, integration of the two organisations would make sense at a later stage

#### 4.5 Conclusion and medium-term perspective

This study aims to answer the following questions:

- 1. How can formal standardisation be organised in such a way that it enables industry to have optimal impact with minimal effort, without compromising reasonable participation and influence by other stakeholder groups such as Government/Legislator?
- 2. Does CENELEC have any added value as a separate European standardisation organisation next to CEN and ETSI?
- 3. How can it be ensured that industry defines market relevance of standardisation projects?

Based on an analysis of the problems perceived by seven independent NCs, three scenarios have been developed. Scenario A is in line with what the independent NCs emphasize: focus on alignment with IEC. Scenario B adds a proactive European role. In both scenarios, the overload of committees and working groups is stopped simply by dismantling most of them. Although they may be important, they hinder more important work. Their work should stop or be (partly) taken over by the secretariat.

In Scenario A the focus shifts further to the international level by aligning European structures and meetings with international ones and by putting the European Commission at distance – the default answer to standardisation requests is 'no'. Compared to the current situation, CENELEC becomes leaner, industry can focus on the technical work and the administrative workload of NCs is reduced considerably. It requires a more pro-active role of the secretariat. If CCMC is not prepared to play this role, a move to another secretariat can be considered. However, this scenario more or less ignores European issues and the default rejection of standardisation requests is not realistic. The focus on IEC leads to less rather than more integration with CEN. This might be beneficial for the electrotechnical industry, but is not necessarily supported by CEN and CENELEC members, in particular those members from countries that have a limited electrotechnical industry and thus hardly any involvement in IEC.

In Scenario B, the needs in the European market get more priority. The market for electrotechnical components and products is global, but the market for systems in which these are applied can be either global, European or national, or even local. In these systems, electrotechnology becomes interwoven with ICT, other technologies, and services. In Scenario B, CENELEC takes a forerunner role in developing architectures of standards for such systems. CENELEC develops the electrotechnical standards themselves in cooperation with IEC, while leaving the remaining standards to other standards setting bodies including ETSI and CEN. In this scenario, CENELEC cooperates with the European Commission but in a different way than it currently does – 'next' to it, not 'under' it. This pro-active role requires a pro-active secretariat, knowledgeable in the art of systems-related standardisation. CCMC in its current shape is not in a position to play this role. Many conveners of committees and standardisation officers at the national level need additional education to enable them to lead and support this more

sophisticated form of standardisation. In this scenario, CENELEC remains independent from CEN, 1) because of this sophisticated character, 2) in order to allow industry to be in the lead, 3) because of its relation to IEC, and 4) to ensure an external focus. However, if CEN moves in a similar direction, more integration between CEN and CENELEC makes sense at a later stage – the historical reasons for having separate organisations disappear due to the integration of technologies and markets.

First feedback suggests that most NCs involved in this project are not prepared to play a more active role in Europe and therefore prefer Scenario A. However, because of the weaknesses of this scenario, a third scenario has been developed, which starts as an improved version of Scenario A and then moves in the direction of Scenario B. CENELEC's purpose would be to develop, approve and disseminate trustworthy and sound standards in the field of electrotechnology, relevant for stakeholders in Europe. In this growth scenario, CENELEC starts with a pilot project of system-related standardisation. The three scenarios all can be positioned as measures of Effectiveness: doing the right things. However, opinions may differ about what the right things are and in this sense scenarios A and B differ substantially. Scenario C provides a growth path within the phase of Effectiveness but this path should not take too long because the phase as such should not take too long.

CENELEC, as a cooperation between independent NCs, faces the additional problem of strategic decision making because the NCs differ enormously, also in terms of the phases they are in themselves, in terms of Hardjono's theory. Here the solution seems to be to allow more differences in speed and emphasis, by allowing the forerunner countries to take new initiatives while giving others the option to refrain from participation. However, these differences may hinder consensus-based decision making so that decisions are postponed and the organisation fails to move to a next phase in time. At the end of the day, standardisation activities should be beneficial for stakeholders all over Europe, at affordable cost.

In his model for strategic changes in organisations, Hardjono combines the four phases with four basic core competencies: material competence, commercial competence, social competence, and intellectual competence. He suggests an intervention for each of these in each of the four phases, so a maximum of 16 interventions. However, due to the dichotomies only eight of these can be used at the same moment. In the case of standardisation, material competence is related to the business models of the organisations at the national, European and international level - these are diverse, and up for improvement. Commercial competence is related to market relevance - the positioning of formal standardisation organisations next to industry consortia requires better involvement of 'weak' stakeholders, including small businesses and societal stakeholders. Social competence is a strength of formal standardisation, via stakeholder participation per country and consensus-based decision making. However, actual participation differs substantially across countries. Meanwhile, new technologies allow new and maybe better forms of involvement. Intellectual competence relates to the knowledge and skills needed to perform standardisation in a professional way. Vocational or even academic education is required for all kinds of professions. Standardisation

people have the illusion that understanding some procedures followed by learning on the job is sufficient. Better performance requires better education, underpinned by scientific research.<sup>111</sup> Standardisation bodies that manage to systematically improve these four competencies will do the best job.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> de Vries, 2015.

## 5 Sources used

Abécassis, Jacques (1995) A history of CEN. Brussels: CEN.

- Alpe, Sophie, Frank M. Go & Henk J. de Vries (2013) Need for a local level of standardisation: the case of Torino. In: Kai Jakobs, Henk J. de Vries, Ashok Ganesh, Andreea Gulacsi, & Ingrid Soetaert (Eds) EURAS Proceedings 2013 – Standards: Boosting European Competitiveness. Aachen: Wissenschaftsverlag Mainz, pp. 1-15.
- Becker, Jörg, Daniel Beverungen, Ralf Knackstedt, Hermann Behrens, Christoph Glauner & Paul Wakke (2010) Stand der Normung und Standardisierung der hybriden Wertschöpfung – Ein Beitrag zum Forschungsprojekt "Flexible Informationssystem-Architekturen für hybride Wertschöpfungsnetzwerke", Arbeitsbericht Nr. 126. Münster, Germany: Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster.
- Bekkers, Rudi (2001) *Mobile Telecommunication Standards: UMTS, GSM, TETRA, & ERMES.* Norwood, MA: Artech House, Inc.
- Beusmans, Hubert & Teun Hardjono (2015) *Kruispunt Europa Een nieuw perspectief op de Europese samenwerking.* The Hague: Wetenschappelijk Instituut CDA.
- Biddle, Brad, Andrew White & Sean Woods (2010) How many standards in a laptop? (And other empirical questions). In: Beyond the Internet? – Innovations for future networks and services – Proceedings of the 2010 ITU-T Kaleidoscope Academic Conference, Pune, India, 12-15 December 2010. Geneva: International Telecommunication Union, pp. 123-130.
- Blind, Knut (2009) *Standardisation: a catalyst for innovation*. Inaugural Address Series Research in Management. Rotterdam: Erasmus Research Institute for Management ERIM.
- Blind, Knut & Stefan Gauch (2009) Research and Standardisation in Nanotechnology: Evidence from Germany. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, **34**, 3, 320-342.
- Blind, Knut & Andre Jungmittag (2008) Impact of patents and standards on macroeconomic growth: a panel approach covering four countries and 12 sectors. *Journal of Productivity Analysis*, **29**, 51-60
- Brons, T.F. (2007) *Effective Participation in Formal Standardization: A Multinational Perspective*. Master thesis. Rotterdam: Rotterdam School of Management.
- BSI (2014) BSI Standards: Report to the Department for Business, Innovation & Skills. London: BSI.
- Bundgaard-Pedersen, Torben (1997) States and EU technical standardization: Denmark, the Netherlands and Norway managing polycentric policy-making. *Journal of European Public Policy*, **4**, 2, 206-224.
- Business Europe (2009) Visions on the future of European standardisation. Position paper. Brussels: Business Europe.
- Büthe, Tim (2010) Engineering Uncontested? The Origins and Institutional Development of the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC), *Business and Politics*, **12**, 3, Article 4.
- CCMC (2014) *Members Survey 2014 Results*. CCMC\_14\_093rev1\_DS (including Annex 1: *Detailed results in graphs*). Brussels: CCMC.
- CEN (2014) Annual Repport 2013. Brussels: CEN.
- CEN-CENELEC (2011) Internal Regulations Part 3: Rules for the structure and drafting of CEN-CENELEC Publications. Brussels: CEN-CENELEC.
- CEN-CENELEC (2014a) CEN-CENELEC Internal Regulations Part 1: Organization and Structure. Brussels: CEN-CENELEC.
- CEN-CENELEC (2014b) Standardization and the Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP) nogotiations – Background to the risks and opportunities for European Standardization arising from the TTIP dialogue. Brussels: CEN-CENELEC.
- CEN-CENELEC (2015) CEN-CENELEC Management Centre (CCMC). Brussels: CEN-CENELEC. Accessed 2015-01-02 at http://www.cencenelec.eu/aboutus/MgtCentre/Pages/default.aspx.
- CEN, CENELEC, Orgalime, ANEC, Cecapi, Cecimo, Ecos, Europacable, Fiec, Marcogaz (2014) *Quality versus Speed for European Standards*. Brussels: CEN-CENELEC. Accessed 2015-05-23 at <u>http://www.orgalime.org/sites/default/files/position-papers/Quality%20versus%20speed%20for%20European%20Standards.pdf</u>.
- CENELEC (2002) CENELEC Primer on Standards Uncovering the mysteries of standardization in Europe. Brussels: CENELEC.
- CENELEC (2010) *Who we are*. Brussels: CENELEC. Accessed 2-15-01-12 at <u>http://www.cenelec.eu/aboutcenelec/whoweare/index.html</u>.
- CENELEC (2014a) Annual Report 2013. Brussels: CENELEC.
- CENELEC (2014b) The Role of the National Permanent Delegates of CENELEC Technical Board. Brussels: CENELEC.
- Chauvel, Yves (2004) *The creation of ETSI in a fast changing standardization landscape.* Sophia Antipolis: ETSI Secretariat. *Unpublished paper.*
- Chesbrough, H., & Rosenbloom, R. S. (2002). The role of the business model in capturing value from innovation: evidence from Xerox Corporation's technology spin-off companies. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, **11**, 3, 529-555.
- Choi, Dong Geun & Henk J. de Vries (2013) Integrating standardization into engineering education The case of forerunner Korea. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, **23**, 4, 1111-1126.
- Commission of the European Communities (1987) *Towards a European Economy Green* paper on the development of the common market for telecommunications services and equipment. COM(87) 290. Brussels: European Commission.
- Council of the European Communities (1989) Council Directive of 28 March 1983 laying down a procedure for the provision of information in the field of technical standards and regulations (83/189/EEC), *Official Journal of the European Communities*, L 109/8, 1983-04-26, pp. 8-12.
- Council of the European Communities (1989) Council Directive of 3 May 1989 on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to electromagnetic compatibility (89/336/EEC), *Official Journal of the European Communities*, L 139/19, 1989-05-23, pp. 19-25.
- Czaya, Axel (2007) Das Europäische Normungssystem aus der Perspektive der Neuen Institutionenökonomik. Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang.
- de Vries, Henk J. de (1999) *Standardization A business approach to the role of national standardization organizations*. Boston / Dordrecht / London: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- de Vries, Henk J. (2014) Report of the meeting 2014-10-28 to discuss some fundamental questions about the Vademecum. Rotterdam: Rotterdam School of Management, Erasmus University (Unpublished report).
- de Vries, Henk J. (2015) Building a community of standards professionals. *Standards Engineering*, **67**, 1, 8-11.
- de Vries, Henk, Knut Blind, Axel Mangelsdorf, Hugo Verheul, Jappe van der Zwan (2009) SME Access to European Standardization - Enabling small and medium-sized enterprises to achieve greater benefit from standards and from involvement in standardization. Brussels: CEN and CENELEC.

- de Vries, dr. ir. Henk J., Harmen Willemse & ir. Jappe van der Zwan (2008) *Standards for lifts*. Delft: Netherlands Standardization Institute.
- de Vries, Henk & Jappe van der Zwan (2008) *What standards do I need for my product or service?* Delft: Netherlands Standardization Institute.
- European Commission (2010) Consolidated versions of the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. *Official Journal of the European Communities*, **53**, C 83, 2010-03-10.
- European Commission (2012) Commission Communication on the development of European standardization Action for faster technological integration in Europe. *Official Journal of the European Communities*, C 20/1, 1991-01-21.
- European Commission (2014a) Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of Regions Commission Work Programme 2015 A new start. COM(2014) 910 final, 2014-12-16. Strasbourg: European Commission.
- European Commission (2014b) *Vademecum on European Standardisation*. Brussels: European Commission, Enterprise Directorate General. Accessed 2014-12-31 at <u>http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/european-</u>standards/documents/vademecum/index en.htm.
- European Council (1983) Directive 83/189/EEC on a procedure for the provision of information in the field of technical standards and regulation. *Official Journal of the European Communities*, L 109/8, 1983-04-26.
- European Parliament and Council (2012) Regulation (EU) No 1025/2012 on European standardization. *Official Journal of the European Union*, L 316, 2012-10-25.
- EXPRESS (2010) Standardisation for a competitive and innovative Europe: a vision for 2020. Brussels: The Expert Panel for the Review of the European Standardisation System (EXPRESS), <u>http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/europeanstandards/files/express/exp\_384\_express\_report\_final\_distrib\_en.pdf</u>.
- EY (2015) Independent Review of the European Standardisation System. Brussels: European Commission.
- Frary, Mark (2004) The world of electricity: 1820-1904. ANSI Reporter, 2014, pp. 3-5. Accessed 2014-12-31 at <u>http://publicaa.ansi.org/sites/apdl/Documents/News%20and%20Publications/ANSI%20R</u>eporter%20%28public%29/ANSI%20Reporter%20Special%20Feature%20-%20IEC.pdf.
- Galland, Jean-Pierre (2001) Normalisation, construction de l'Europe et mondialisation Éléments de réflexion. Notes du Centre de Prospective et de Veille Scientifique, 14. Paris: Ministère de l'Équipement, des Transport et du Logement, Direction de la Recherche et des Affairs Scientifiques et techniques, Centre de Prospective et de Veille Scientifique.
- Gauch, Stephan & Knut Blind (2015). Technological Convergence and the Absorptive Capacity of Standardisation. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 91, 236-249.
- Grünbauer, J.J. A critique of draft standard prEN-10238. Diemen, the Netherlands: Constructiewerkplaats Grünbauer.
- Grützner, Bernd (1994) Normung, Zertifizierung und Akkreditierung im EU-Binnenmarkt. Berlin / Offenbach: VDE-Verlag.
- Hardjono, T.W. (1997) *Ritmiek en organisatie-dynamiek Vierfasenmodel met aangrijpingspunten voor organisatorische interventies ter vergroting van effectiviteit, efficiency, flexibiliteit en creativiteit.* Ed. 2. Deventer: Kluwer.
- Hesser, Wilfried & Axel Czaya (2010) *The Standardization Policy of the European Union*. In: Wilfried Hesser (Ed.) *Standardisation in Companies and Markets*. 3<sup>rd</sup> edition. Hamburg: Helmut Schmidt University, pp. 713-768).

- Hesser, Wilfried & Henk J. de Vries (2011) *Academic Standardisation Education in Europe White Paper*. Hamburg / Rotterdam: EURAS.
- Hofstede, Geert, Gert Jan Hofstede, Michael Minkov (2010) *Cultures and Organizations:* Software of the Mind. Ed. 3. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- IEC (2014) Systems approach. Geneva: IEC. Accessed 2014-12-27 at http://www.iec.ch/dyn/www/f?p=103:48:0::::FSP ORG ID,FSP LANG ID:3228,25#3.
- International Electrotechnical Commission (1906) Report of Preliminary Meeting held at the Hotel Cecil, London on Tuesday and Wednesday, June 26<sup>th</sup> and 27<sup>th</sup> 1906. London: International Electrotechnical Commission.
- ISO (2008) ISO 9001 'Quality management systems Requirements'. Geneva: ISO.
- ISO (2014) ISO Strategy A stakeholder's guide Consultation for ISO Strategy 2016-2020. Geneva: ISO. Accessed 2014-12-01 at <u>http://www.iso.org/iso/stakeholder consultation document for iso strategies 2016-</u>2020\_-fr.pdf.
- ISO/IEC (2008) ISO/IEC Guide 76 'Development of service standards Recommendations for addressing consumer issues.' Geneva: International Organization for Standardization & International Electrotechnical Commission.
- Jakobs (2014) Corporate Standardisation Management in the ICT Sector. COSMICS Final Report v.3. Aachen: RWTH Aachen University, Computer Science Department, Informatik 4.
- Kingdon, John W. (1995) *Agendas, alternatives, and public policies.* New York: Harper Collins. Kuyper, Abraham (1898) *Six Stone-lectures.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton: Theological Seminary.
- Leruth, Benjamin & Lord, Christopher (2015) Differentiated integration in the European Union: a concept, a process, a system or a theory? *Journal of European Policy*, Published online 2015-03-24.
- Luitwieler, Sander (2009) *The Black Box of the Nice Treaty Negotiations The Infuence of the Dutch cabinet.* Dissertation. Rotterdam: Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam.
- Luitwieler, Sander (2014) A community of peoples –Europe's values and public justice in the *EU*. Eastbourne, UK: Seismos Press.
- Meyer, Niclas (2012) *Public Intyervention in Private Rule-Making: The Role of the European Commission in Industry Standardization.* London: London School of Economics and Political Science.
- Meyer, Niclas (2013) Varieties of Standardization: On the Competitive Advantage and Systematic Differences between European, American and Chinese Standardization. In: Kai Jakobs, Henk J. de Vries, Ashok Ganesh, Andreea Gulacsi & Ingrid Soetert (Eds) EURAS Proceedings 2013 Standards: Boosting European Competitiveness. Aachen, Mainz, pp. 247-262.
- Orgalime (2011a) European standards: a useful tool for both the EU and companies, which deserves support with less bureacray. Position paper. Brussels: Orgalime.
- Orgalime (2011b) Letter to Ms Lara Comi, Member of the European Parliament. Brussels: Orgalime.
- Orgalime (2014) Position of the European engineering industries as standardisation's main stakeholder on the implementation of the European standardisation package. Letter to Mr Antonio Tajani, Vice President of the European Commission Responsible for Industry and Entrepreneurship. Brussels: Orgalime.
- Orgalime (2015) Orgalime comments on the Commission's proposal for Regulatory Cooperation in the framework of the Transatlantic Partnership. Position Paper. Brussels: Orgalime.

- Orgalime, Afecor, Cecapi, Cece, Ceced, Cecip, Cema, Cocir, Efcem, Egmf, Elvhis, Esmig, Euralarm, Euro-Air, Farecogaz, FEM, Lingtingeurope, Pneurop & T&D Europe (2014) *Joint Call to CEN and CENELEC to place industry at the core of European standardisation governance.* Brussels: Orgalime.
- Osterwalder, A., Pigneur, Y., & Tucci, C. L. (2005) Clarifying Business Models. *Communications of Association for Information Systems*, **15**, May 2005.
- Quin, Robert E. & John Rohrbaugh, 1983. A spatial model of effectiveness criteria: towards a competing values approach to organizational analysis. *Management Science*, **29**, 3, 363-377.
- Reihlen, Helmut (1996) Zusammenfassung der Beratungsergebnisse. In: Deutsches Institut für Normung, Normung in Europa und das DIN Ziele für das Jahr 2005. Bericht über die außerordentliche Sitzung des DIN-Präsidiums am 23. April 1996 in Berlin. Berlin: Beuth, pp. 102-113.
- Riemer, Nicole (2010) Netzwerkkoordination als Geschäftsmodel für Normungsorganisationen. Aachen, Germany: Mainz.
- Roland Berger & Partners GmbH (2000) *Future Financing for the CEN system*. Barcelona and other places: Roland Berger & Partners GmbH.
- Russell, Andrew L. (2007) *The American System: A Schumpeterian History of Standardization*. Progress & Freedom Foundation Progress on Point Paper No. 14.4. Accessed 2015-05-13 at <a href="http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=975259">http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=975259</a>.
- Schepel (2005) The constitution of private governance Product standards in the Regulation of Integrating Markets. Oxford, UK / Portland, OR: Hart Publishing.
- Simons, C.A.J. & H.J. de Vries (2002) Standaard of maatwerk Bedrijfskeuzes tussen uniformiteit en verscheidenheid. Schoonhoven, the Netherlands: Academic Service.
- Spring, Michael B. & Martin B. H. Weiss (1995). *Financing the standards development process*. In: Kahin, B.; Abbate, J. (eds): *Standards Policy for Information Infrastructure*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, pp. 289-320.
- Stuurman, C. (1995). Technische normen en het recht: Beschouwingen over de interactie tussen het recht en technische normalisatie op het terrein van informatietechnologie en telecommunicatie. Reeks Informatica en Recht, Vol. 17, Deventer: Kluwer.
- Swann, G.M. Peter (2010) *The economics of standardization: an update*. Report for the UK Department of Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS), Version 2.2, 27 May 2010.
- Teichmann, Hans (2001) 1901-2001: Celebrating the Centenary of SI: Giovanni Giorgi's Contribution and the Role of the IEC. Geneva: IEC.
- The Connected Lighting Alliance (2004) *The connected Lighting Alliance Shaping the Future of Lighting*. Eindhoven, the Netherlands: The Connected Lighting Alliance. Accessed 2014-12-31 at <u>http://www.theconnectedlightingalliance.org/home</u>.
- UN General Assembly (2005) Enhanced Cooperation Between the United Nations and All Relevant Partners, in Particular the Private Sector Report of the Secretary General, A/60/214, 2005-08-10. New York: United Nations.
- van de Kaa, Geerten (2009) Standards Battles for Complex Systems Empirical Research on the Home Network. Rotterdam, the Netherlands: Erasmus Research Institute of Management – ERIM.
- van Duijn, Roel (1984) Voeten in de aarde De eco-crisis en onze erfenis van Abraham Kuyper en Frderik van Eeden – Verkenningen in organische en organistische filosofie. Amsterdam: Meulenhoff.
- van Dyke, Harry (Ed. and translator) (1989) *Groen van Prinsterer's Lectures on Unbelief and Revolution*. Jordan Station, Ont: Wedge Pub. Foundation.

## Chair of Standardisation at the Rotterdam School of Management, Erasmus University

Rotterdam School of Management, Erasmus University, is ranked among Europe's top tier business schools, providing ground-breaking research and education. RSM develops business leaders with international careers who carry their innovative mindset into a sustainable future, see <u>http://www.rsm.nl</u>. RSM's endowed chair on Standardisation, made possible by the Netherlands Standardisation Institute NEN, provides education and research in the field of standardisation from a management point of view. Prof. Dr. Knut Blind is assisted by Dr. Ir. Henk de Vries, Associate Professor of Standardisation and author of this report.

Before and partly parallel to his academic career, Henk worked for NEN in several positions. Henk received a PhD degree in 'Standardization - A Business Approach to the Role of National Standardization Organizations' (Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1999). He won the 2009 ISO award for Standardization in Higher Education for his education activities. Henk is past President of the International Cooperation for Education about Standardization ICES and President of the European Academy for Standardisation EURAS. He is (co-)author of more than 300 publications in the field of standardisation. See <a href="http://www.rsm.nl/hdevries">http://www.rsm.nl/hdevries</a>.